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Royal Cornwall Hospitals NHS Trust has three
main hospital sites; the Royal Cornwall
Hospital in Truro, St Michael’s Hospital in
Hayle and West Cornwall Hospital in
Penzance.  It also provides maternity care at
centres in St Austell, Helston and on the Isles
of Scilly, as well as a range of outpatient
services, including x-ray and ultrasound
imaging services, at community hospital
locations across Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly.

Our Emergency Department in Truro is a
designated Trauma Unit and the Urgent Care
Centre in Penzance provides a range of urgent
care for patients in the far west of the county.
We continue to build a reputation as an active
centre for research and innovation and are
well established as a teaching hospitals trust
as a part of the former Peninsula School of

Medicine and Dentistry and the University of
Exeter Medical School.  We provide a base for
nurse education with the University of
Plymouth as well as placements for students
from a range of health service professions
including radiography and therapies.

With a turnover of £350 million and around
650,000 patient contacts each year, we provide
services for the majority of the population of
Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly, around 420,000
people (a figure that can double during the
peak holiday season).  We are among the top
5 largest employers in the county, with
approximately 5,000 staff.  We serve a
geographically remote peninsula and are the
provider of choice for our local population
with our staff having a key influence on our
reputation within the community.

Trust profile

Our organisation in numbers
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Chairman and Chief Executive’s statement

The story of 2015/16 is year of good progress
in many service areas although there are some
areas where performance is below the
standard we want to deliver on specific
priorities. This is happening in a context of
rising demand and heavy pressure on
resources. Overall, levels of patient satisfaction
are good and staff continue to experience
significant challenges.

It is clear, and agreed with all our partner
organisations that we will increase the pace
of whole system service redesign and
transformation so that we can achieve our
aim of offering outstanding healthcare
throughout the Trust and wider community.

We have seen unprecedented demand for
emergency care services in Cornwall making
access to hospital overly pressured at times.
More than double the national average of
patients are delayed in discharge to other care
settings because of wider system constrains.  

The impact of this pressure on the system has
regrettably sometimes been felt by people
waiting for routine surgery who have
experienced cancellations or longer waiting
times. It is testament to the commitment and
professionalism of our staff that in this
context, Care Quality Commission (CQC)
inspectors found caring at our hospitals to be
‘good’ and specifically at West Cornwall
Hospital, ‘outstanding’. We are proud of this.

Overall, the CQC rated RCHT as ‘requires
improvement’ and made a number of
recommendations on key areas, including the
way the whole health and social care system
operates.  Work began on these improvements
early in 2016 and we can already report good
progress, including sepsis screening, care of
deteriorating patients; reducing long waits for
cardiology patients; and a 20% reduction in
late cancellation of operations.

Our survey of inpatients continues to reflect
high levels of satisfaction with our staff and
services. However the level of confidence of
staff themselves in recommending our
hospitals for care or as a place to work was
not as high as we would like. We are seeing
signs of improvement and will be looking to
build on these foundations over the coming
year. Organisational change takes time but
together we are creating a culture of
openness and honesty where our staff feel
valued and empowered we believe our staff
do their best every day.

Alongside our growing research culture at
RCHT we are also among the top Trusts in the
South West for the number of active
innovation projects.

Many of these have achieved national
recognition this year with a number of teams
placed as finalists and winners in prestigious
awards, including the Health Service Journal
and British Medical Journal, with our blood
transfusion team and neurology team both
being multi-award winners.  There are many
more examples in this report. Well done to all
of them.

We congratulate all those who have been
recognised for their achievements during the
year and on behalf of the Trust Board would
also wish to extend our sincere thanks to staff
across the Trust for their continued dedication
in challenging times.  We do also owe a debt
of gratitude to our many volunteers and
Leagues of Friends for their continued support.
Their contribution is invaluable in enriching
the day to day work of our staff and in
supporting patients, their families and friends.
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Dr Mairi McLean
Interim Chairman

Kathy Byrne
Chief Executive

Chairman and Chief Executive’s statement cont...

Looking ahead to 2016/17 and beyond we
know we will continue to face considerable
challenges as the public sector comes under
increasing financial pressure.

Our work with partner organisations on better
integration and the development of the
system-wide Sustainability and Transformation
Plan will be vital to ensuring services and
funding are in the right place to meet the
needs of our population. Even so there will be
need for changes in how we do things.

We are under no illusion that this change
must be achieved within available resources
and there is no doubt it is going to mean new
models of care and much more focus on
preventative healthcare and more community
based services. We will play our part in
breaking down historic boundaries and
bringing forward new ideas and solutions. We
have a once in a generation opportunity to
transform healthcare and if we seize that now,
our ambition to become an outstanding
organisation is well within our grasp. 
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Our vision
– ‘Working together to achieve outstanding care and better health outcomes’
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Delivering our objectives

Our 2015/16 Business Plan set out our vision, strategic aims and priorities for the year.  These are
summarised below: 

Performance report

Our work is underpinned by our 5 core values and this section of our annual report looks at how
we delivered against our priorities.

Our strategic aims:

Quality People Partnership Resources

To provide
outstanding health

care services 

To make best use
of our expert skills
and capabilities

To collaborate
and innovate with

our partners

Make efficient
use of all

of our resources 

Our priorities 2016/17:

• Improve patient
experience as measured
by the Friends and
Family test

• Achieve national quality
standards  in particular;
Emergency 4 hours;
18 week elective
pathways and cancer

• Increase the range of
services across seven days

• Ensure compliance with
urgent care patient
pathways, delivering
prompt assessment
and treatment

• Reduce in-hospital
mortality (HSMR)

• Achieve CQC rating of
Good overall

• Reinvigorate listening
into action, empower
staff to make changes
for their patient
and themselves

• Redesign our clinical
structure  and enhance
our leadership capacity

• Pro-actively recruit
and retain our staff
to maintain safe
staffing levels

• Ensure staff are
deployed efficiently and
minimise agency spend

• Develop a wider research
and innovation portfolio
– increasing  patients
recruited to trials

• Progress the design of
integrated care across
organisational boundaries

• Ensure our patients are
discharged promptly with
appropriate access to
health and social care
assessments and support

• Work with GPs as
co-providers, to develop
shared care services

• Enhance services
provided from
St Michael’s and
West Cornwall Hospitals
and in the East of
the county 

• Strengthen specialist
networks to ensure
services, remain clinically
and financially viable

• Achieve year on year
improvement with a
deficit of no more than
£5.5m by March 2016

• Strengthen cost control,
avoiding high variable
pay expenses

• Achieve £15m of quality
driven cost efficiencies

• Increase productivity
across pathways
e.g outpatients, beds
and theatres to improve
the utilisation of
our resources

• Maximise clinical
and financial benefits
from the £14m base
capital programme

Care + Compassion

Inspiration + Innovation

Working Together

Pride + Achievement

Trust + Respect

Our core values
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Performance report - Quality

Emergency care standard

It has been a year where we have seen
unprecedented demand for emergency
services. Daily attendances at our Emergency
Department were up by as much as 45% on
some days, compared to last year. 

Throughout 2015/16 we did not meet the
national 4 hour emergency care standard
whereby 95% of patients should be assessed,
treated and discharged or admitted to
hospital within four hours. Over the 12 month
period we achieved the standard for 81.2% of
patients. We were often able to assess and
provide initial treatment for patients but
unable to admit them to hospital within four
hours due to number of beds available. 

The increased number of people coming to
the Emergency Department (A&E) is a problem
that's not unique to Cornwall but when
combined with a high number of patients
waiting to be discharged to step down care
or back home with support (averaging
54 patients a day), the knock-on is delays in
getting patients admitted to the right ward.

For 2016/17, a trajectory has been agreed
with NHS Kernow and NHS Improvement to
increase the percentage of patients seen
within the emergency care standard from
78.1% in Quarter 1 to a minimum of 85% for
Quarters 3 + 4. This is still below the national
standard but realistic in the context of the
scale of the wider system redesign that needs
to take place.

Achieve national quality standards
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Performance report - Quality

Waiting times for cancer treatment and
planned operations

Across the year we have met all of our targets
for access to treatment although there are five
individual specialties where this was not
achieved.  At the end of the year there were
just over 1,500 patients who had waited
longer than the 18-week standard.  

Access standards for the key diagnostic tests
were met across the year.  The CT imaging
team is especially commended for maintaining
activity levels during an 8-week programme to
replace one of the three scanners on the Royal
Cornwall Hospital site.

Whilst RCHT is one of the best performers in
the country in relation to patients referred by
their GPs, there has been inconsistency,
particularly in the final quarter of the year in
relation to the standard to ensure patients
diagnosed with cancer after referral from one
of the national screening programmes are
treated within 62 days.  This has been
identified as a priority area for 2016/17.

It is regrettable that a large number of
patients had operations cancelled at short
notice as a result of the impact of high levels
of emergency admissions coupled with
delayed transfers for care for those waiting to 
be discharged to other care settings.  Whilst 

the decision was taken to book fewer
patients in the knowledge that their risk of
cancellation might be high, over the year this
amounted to 5.54% of planned procedures.
As a result the Trust was a national outlier on
short notice cancelled operations.

In order to manage increasing demand,
new models of care are being introduced
including evening and weekend outpatient
clinics for some of the diagnostic services,
virtual clinics for follow-up appointments in
orthopaedics and the opening of a radial
lounge in cardiology. The virtual clinics have
the benefit of reducing unnecessary hospital
visits for patients whilst at the same time
freeing up appointment slots for new patients
and those who do need a face to face review
with a specialist.

The radial lounge has proven highly successful
as it provides a day case facility for planned
cardiac procedures that would otherwise
require admission to a ward.  Instead
appropriate patients use a seated lounge area
before and after their procedure, dramatically
reducing the likelihood of last minute
cancellations when beds are otherwise
occupied by emergency patients.

Achieve national quality standards
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Performance report - Quality

Reducing hospital mortality

Whilst our local population is made up
of a larger proportion of older people and
many of our patients have multiple and/or
complex medical needs, these are taken
account of when assessing patient outcomes.
It has therefore continued to be of concern
that mortality rates at RCHT, particularly
at weekends, are higher than would
be expected.

The care and safety of our patients is our
top priority and during the year we have
focussed on a number of areas consistent
with nationally identified priorities as well as
locally agreed quality improvement targets.
These are covered in more detail in our
Quality Accounts but include the following:

Sepsis - A lead nurse for Sepsis has been
appointed whose role is to raise awareness,
education and audit compliance with the
treatment pathway for Sepsis.  This includes
the use of the Sepsis 6 and ‘Bufalo’ checklists
to ensure early diagnosis and the
commencement of treatment within the
critical first hour.

Nationally Sepsis is believed to claim around
44,000 lives each year across the UK.  During
the year a marked increase in the use of the 

Sepsis care ‘bundle’ – a standardised diagnosis
and treatment plan - was recorded and this
will continue to be a priority during
2016/2017.

Recognising and acting on a patient’s
deteriorating condition - A vital element
in any patient’s care is ensuring that we are
alert to any signs of deterioration in their
condition and that we act quickly on those
signs.  During the last year we have been
improving our procedures for assessment and
response to acute illness to embed the
consistent use of the national early warning
score (NEWS) and the NHS Institutes SBARD
– a structured approach to communicating
critical information that requires action.
Whilst this is working well in many areas it
was clear from our CQC Report that some
inconsistencies remained which is a priority
to resolve during 2016/17.

Achieve national quality standards
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Performance report - Quality

AKI (Acute Kidney Injury) - AKI is another
major cause of mortality in the UK, with an
estimated 22,000 cases a year.  During the
year a successful engagement programme
focussed on a range of measures aimed at
improving diagnosis and ongoing care of
patients with AKI.  Driven by a multidisciplinary
team the year end audit demonstrated an
improvement from 16% to 93% in compliance
with key measures.

Chest Pain - A rapid access ‘one stop shop’
has been introduced to reduce the time from
symptom onset to diagnosis and treatment.
The one-stop approach reduces the need for
secondary diagnostic tests and avoidable
admissions.  The nurse-led service operates in
conjunction with cardiac CT or MIBI scan
testing with normal outcomes being
discharged to GPs and abnormal results
referred to consultant cardiologists.  The
service model was shortlisted for a Health
Service Journal Value in Healthcare Award
in 2016.

Managing the use of antibiotics - RCHT has
been leading work across the health sector
and more widely in Cornwall to ensure the
appropriate use of antibiotics as ever
increasing resistance and a lack of new
generation drugs make this resource ever
more precious.  The work of the Cornwall
team, led by RCHT’s Chief Pharmacist has
extended to schools as well as the farming
and veterinary sectors.  Such has been the
success of work within RCHT it has just been
highlighted as the top Trust for antimicrobial
stewardship in the South West, reflecting the
efforts made over the last year to ensure
patients receive the correct antibiotic
medication and that prescriptions are
regularly reviewed.

The Trust has committed to the national
Sign up to Safety campaign and will be
continuing this work during 2016/17.  

Achieve national quality standards
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Performance report - Quality

7-day working - New consultant appointments
have been made during the year to enable an
increase in 7-day cover for specialties such as
cardiology, respiratory, neurology and
paediatrics.  Alongside this a number of other
areas have extended working hours to provide
additional weekend cover. These include the
critical care outreach service which has been
extended to 12 hours per day 7 days a week.

There has been expansion of weekend hours in
both pharmacy and therapies to support earlier
discharge and rehabilitation.  At St Michael’s
Hospital the physiotherapy team has led an
initiative to mobilise patients sooner after
planned orthopaedic surgery which following an
earlier pilot has proven to speed up recovery,
reduce length of stay and deliver cost savings.
This change in practice will also support the
planned increase in activity at the hospital.

Urgent care pathways

- The redesign of urgent care pathways,
particularly for older people to enable their
access to community-based, preventative and
rehabilitative services, are intrinsically linked to
improving our emergency care standard
performance.  The partnership work that is
referred to in greater detail later in this report
will be essential to making sustainable
improvement across the health and social
care system. There are of course elements of
those pathways that we can refine within our
hospitals too, and we have focussed on some
specific areas during the year.

Fractured neck of femur (hip fractures) - In the
latter part of the year changes were made to
the treatment pathway for fractured neck of
femur patients.  Ambulance crews attending
patients with suspected fractures are able to
send an advance alert to the Emergency
Department.  This is designed to speed up the
patient’s diagnosis, admission and subsequent
surgery.  This has contributed to a significant
increase in the number of patients with
fractured neck of femur having their operation
within 36 hours, reaching over 90% in
December.  This figure was subsequently lower
in the last quarter of the year when we saw the
highest levels of emergency activity which
reduced our overall year performance to 72%,
just short of the 75% target.

Stroke Care - Patients who have suffered a
stroke are known to benefit from being quickly
admitted to a specialist stroke unit.  The
national standard is for at least 82% of patients
to spend at least 90% of their hospital stay on a
stroke ward.  Whilst we have worked hard to
achieve this standard, the impact of significantly
increased emergency admissions throughout the
year has meant this has only been achieved for
55% of patients.  This standard continues to be
a priority in our 2016/17 Operational Plan and
further work is planned with support from the
national network.

Early supported discharge - following the
success of the early supported discharge
project for stroke patients, whereby RCHT
teams continue rehabilitation in patient’s own
homes, allowing them to leave hospital
sooner and to have their therapy tailored to
their personal environment and needs, the
therapy team used the Listening into Action
programme to secure funding for it to be
extended to more specialties.  It is now in
place in orthopaedics, complimenting the
work to speed up admission and access to
surgery for this patient group and reducing
the time spent in hospital.
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Performance report - Quality

Improving patient experience

Focus on dementia

Given the high proportion of older people
admitted to our hospitals, many of whom will
also be living with dementia or memory loss,
support for this group of patients has been a
high priority.  A 90-strong network of
‘champions’ lead patient support and
awareness in wards or departments and the
‘forget-me-not’ symbol  is used on electronic
patient information boards.  The Trust also
made a commitment to the national ‘John’s
Campaign’, supplementing our Carer’s
Passport designed to empower carers to get as
involved in their loved-one’s care as they wish.

Building on existing collaborative work with
the voluntary sector, a one year pilot project
commenced at West Cornwall Hospital to
recruit support workers employed by Age UK
to provide daily ward based activities for
patients with dementia.  This arrangement
complements the highly successful weekly
memory café, a model which has now also
been adopted on Kerensa Ward at the Royal
Cornwall Hospital which specialises in the care
of older people.

How good is our PLACE?

Patent-led assessments of the care
environment (PLACE) put patient views at the
centre of judging how well our ward and
hospital environments meet the needs of
patients, visitors and staff.  These look not only
at the cleanliness, decoration and furnishing
but also privacy and dignity, food and for the
first time a specific focus on dementia.

Our PLACE assessments were undertaken in
April and May 2015 with teams comprising
RCHT staff and independent patient
ambassadors.  The table below shows the
results for each of our sites.

Achieve national quality standards
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Performance report - Quality

PLACE Score 2013-2015

Cleanliness

Both West Cornwall and St Michaels score
above the national average for 2015, and are
still significantly better than the scores in 2013
when PLACE was first introduced.  RCH shows
the biggest decrease, but still better than the
2013 score.

Food

Although Food scores are lower than the
previous year and less than the national
average there is very little difference to be
seen between the three years.

Dementia

Our scores for dementia were below the
national average on all three of our sites
which were primarily due to the need for
additional signage around nurses stations and
large, easy-read clocks. 

Condition & Appearance

This has shown the most significant drop in
score.  However, there is a correlation
between the level of investment in painting,
decorating, flooring through the estates
backlog maintenance programme and the
scoring in 2015 as funding identified to
support this was removed through the capital
challenge process.  Other areas of concern
were the state of the lifts in Trelawny, the
amount of clutter and the state of
noticeboards.

Privacy & Dignity

There are some changes in this year’s
assessment that may have adversely affected
the scoring, but there were issues identified
during the assessments such as sign-posted
location to break bad news that need to be
rectified.

Achieve national quality standards
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Performance report - Quality

Inclusion and equality

Royal Cornwall Hospitals Trust is committed to
delivering inclusive health services for all in a
dignified and respectful way by a workforce
which is equally respected.  We recognise that
all patients, staff and members of the public
are individuals and we will strive to meet their
needs. As an organisation we endeavour to
ensure that no one is discriminated against or
treated unfairly due to age, disability, race,
religion or belief, gender, sexual orientation,
gender reassignment, marriage/civil
partnership or pregnancy/maternity. Where
necessary we will make every effort to ensure
adjustments are made to prevent less
equitable experiences occurring. 

We have been working to enhance care in a
number of ways and were particularly pleased
to see some of that work commended by the
Care Quality Commission.  This included the
support for patients with learning disabilities
who are offered the opportunity to visit the
hospital and theatre environment before
coming in for planned surgery.

We have also introduced Hearing Loss Link
worker roles across all three hospitals to
better support patients with hearing loss and
have also introduced new staff networks
individuals with impairments or health
conditions and staff from minority ethnic
backgrounds.  It is hoped that further
networks will be established in the future.

The Trust is fully committed to meeting its
core requirements under the Equality Act 2010
and Public Sector Duty.  Further information
on our progress to date and our plans for the
future can be found in our Annual Equality
Report 2015:
http://www.rcht.nhs.uk/DocumentsLibrary/Roya
lCornwallHospitalsTrust/ChiefExecutive/TrustBo
ard/Minutes/1617/201604/App12AnnualEqualit
yReport.pdf 

Our Single Equality Scheme is also published
on our website, it outlines and promotes our
commitment to this agenda ensuring that the
Trust clearly defines its assurance, governance
and engagement strategy.

Achieve national quality standards
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Performance report - Our people

Listening to staff and empowering them to
implement change

Whilst our staff survey results are still poor in
comparison to other NHS organisations, the
results for 2015 do show signs of improvement
with 12 areas showing positive change – many
of these linked to staff engagement – 10 remain
unchanged and none having gone down. 

Key areas of concern continue to be staff
satisfaction with the quality of work and care
they are able to provide, confidence and
security in reporting unsafe clinical practice
and fairness and effectiveness of reporting
procedures for errors, near misses and
incidents. The results continue to show a
disparity between the views of staff and the
experience of patients, where our inpatient
survey results demonstration high levels of
satisfaction with care and treatment.

We have continued to utilise the Listening
into Action (LiA) methodology to empower
teams to make changes they feel will benefit
patients as well as the working lives of
our staff.

Although there is still a long way to go, it
would appear from our staff survey results
that the LiA programme is having a
positive impact on staff engagement.  One of
the topics in the second wave of the LiA
programme focuses on the reporting of
incidents to address the concerns raised in
the survey. Additional training is also being
provided to improve the investigation
of incidents.

We know that a key element of staff
satisfaction relates to clarity in role and
objectives for individuals. We have simplified
our appraisal process and will be looking to
achieve 100% compliance with the new
process and ensure appraisals are focussed and
meaningful with high quality discussion.

‘To make best use
of our expert skills
and capabilities’
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Performance report - Our people

Recruiting and retaining high calibre staff

In common with NHS Trusts across the country
we are finding it increasingly difficult to
recruit to clinical vacancies as competition has
increased and Trusts have to increase staffing
levels in response to the Francis Report and
the rising demand on hospital services. 

Consequently demand for staff increased
considerably in 2015/16 and although this
meant an increase in our use of agency staff,
we also carried out a successful campaign to
recruit nursing staff from Europe and the
Philippines, with just under 30 overseas
recruits joining the Trust by the end of May
2016.  This will mean that in 2016/17 we will
have a higher level of substantive staff in
post to care for our patients.  In addition,
we use staff from our own internal bank,
“Kernowflex”, and agency staff.  Temporary
staffing usage such as this has represented
8.8% of our total whole time equivalent
staff in post.

Like other NHS organisations we have
experienced difficulties in recruiting to some
medical roles. We are continuing to explore
international recruitment as well as looking at
other options within the overall clinical
workforce to cover these roles through
extended roles and workforce redesign.

The Trust also has a rapidly expanding
apprenticeship programme.  During 2015/16,
we employed 31 apprentices and a
commitment has been made to more than
doubling this number during 2016/17.
Apprenticeships are now offered in both
clinical and non-clinical roles.
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Performance report - Our people

Celebrating achievement - One + all | we care (Awards 2015)

The annual awards recognise individuals and teams who have made an outstanding contribution
to patient care and services.  From almost 150 nominations, 20 award winners were selected with
one overall winner each of the five categories reflecting our Trust values.

The 2015 awards winners were:

  Care + Compassion

Nick Scott
– Receptionist, Royal Cornwall Hospital

Neonatal Team

Eve Thorp
– Lead Clinical Nurse Specialist, Palliative Care

Helen Rowe
– Discharge Co-ordinator

Inspiration + Innovation

Blood Transfusion Team

Maynard Anthony
– Maintenance Engineer

Nina Penkethman
– Unit Sister, Ambulatory Emergency Care

Gillian Coultauld
– Team Lead, Neuro-vascular Research

Working Together

Children in Care Team

Trelawny Imaging Team

Pendennis Ward

Diabetes and Renal Research Team

Pride + Achievement

David Pell
– Ophthalmology Photographer

Allwyn Cota
– Consultant Surgeon

Allison Callaway
– Healthcare Support Worker

April Reed
– Trainee Advanced Practitioner

Trust + Respect

Tina Elliot
– Ward Sister, Medical Unit,
West Cornwall Hospital

Prostate Cancer Support Team

John Glinn
– Head of Pharmacy Clinical Services

Linda Carpenter
– Childcare Co-ordinator

& Improving Working Lives Co-ordinator

We are grateful to our sponsors – Mitie, St Michael’s Falmouth, Tusker and Unipart Expert Practices
– for their support for the awards presentation event.  
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Performance report - Our people

Celebrating achievement - Regional and national recognition

Once again many of our staff have gained recognition for their work and innovation through
regional and national awards and schemes.  These have included:

Acute ambulatory care 

The team received national recognition at its
peer network for its model of care and high
level of patient satisfaction.

Antimicrobial stewardship  

As well as being recognised as the Trust
with the best antimicrobial stewardship
performance by the South West network,
chief pharmacist Iain Davidson was among
the finalists in the national antibiotic
guardian awards.

Blood transfusion team  

A National Patient Safety innovation award
was the latest in a host of awards the team
has received for its innovative Llama Safe
computerised sample labelling system which is
used at the patient bedside to improve the
safety of blood transfusion.  It has attracted
much national attention and has potential for
expansion for use in other clinical situations.

Breast feeding 

A local Community Award from West Briton
newspaper readers for infant feeding
co-ordinator Helen Shanahan who won the
Health Worker of the Year category for her
inspirational work supporting mothers
and babies.

Gynaecology  

An award from the National Institute for
Health and Care Excellence (NICE) for

consultant gynaecologist, Miss Farah Lone, for
the development of a urinary incontinence
service which has been quality assured and
highlighted as a blueprint for others to follow.

Neurology 

RCHT specialists are part of the British Medical
Journal Neurology Team of the Year for their
part in developing an app to help people
living with epilepsy to monitor their condition,
alerting them to the need to visit their GP.

Obstetrics

Consultant in maternal and fetal medicine,
Dr Aylur Rajasri was awarded a national
Healthcare Hero Award at the 2015 Tommy’s
Awards in recognition of her care and
dedication to developing a specialist service to
manage high risk and complex pregnancies. 

Rapid access chest pain 

The team were finalists in the Health Service
Journal Value in Healthcare Awards for their
nurse-led, one-stop shop for patients referred
by their GP with non-emergency chest pain. 

Thrombosis nursing team 

Overall winners in the Quality in Care
anticoagulation wards for their introduction of
an innovative electronic patient pathway for
the treatment of Cancer Associated Thrombosis.



Royal Cornwall Hospitals NHS Trust • Annual Report 2015 - 2016
21

Performance report - Our people

Learning, development and leadership

The Trust has a strong programme of learning
and development opportunities which are
available to all staff. We work with Heath
Education England to ensure quality training
programmes for our clinical professionals,
supported by a comprehensive programme
of development for our non-registered
/ non-clinical workforce.

A number of staff already access the national
leadership development programmes for the
NHS, and in 2016/17 the Trust will develop an
internally delivered bespoke leadership
programme to support multi-professional
leaders at all levels. This will enable a focus on
the organisational and cultural development
needed to manage the transformational
changes required over the next few years. We
will support the Trust’s service delivery
priorities through the development of skills
and competencies for clinical staff in those
areas which are being reviewed and improved.

Managing Sickness Absence

The management of sickness absence serves to
reduce costs and more importantly has a direct
influence on quality of care.

Our aim is to take a proactive and sympathetic
approach to short and long term sickness
absence.  Managers are expected to make
reasonable adjustments for staff to facilitate
an early return to work or to enable an
employee who has acquired a disability to
remain in work.  

It is our aim to reduce our sickness absence to
3.75% but across the financial year 2015/16
the rate remained high at 4.37%.  This of
course has direct impact on the need to use
our in-house bank and external agency
staffing, significantly increasing our staffing
costs.  Over the year our expenditure on
external temporary staff amounted to
£17million, although this also accounts for
costs of covering a high level of vacancies.

Sickness absence and recruitment will continue
to be a major focus for us during 2016/17.
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Research, development and innovation

We have again seen strong growth in
recruitment to new research studies and trials
at RCHT and have exceeded the target to
recruit 2700 participants over the last year.
We have been recognised as a top recruiting
site in a number of areas of research with
particular success in the fields of cancer
and diabetes.

During 2016/17 we intend to further increase
our participation in clinical studies and trials
with the aim of recruiting a further 2800 new
patients during the year.  We will also look to
increase the number of studies in the National
Institute of Human Resources Clinical Research
Network and do further work to raise the
profile of research in our local.

Innovative practice improving patient care

Our Innovation Leads have continued to
support staff throughout the year in
developing their own ideas and in adopting
best practice from other organisations.  We
intend to build further on this important area

of work which delivers not only benefits and
improvements to patient care but invariably
efficiencies in working practice and more cost
effective methods of providing services.

These examples demonstrate how our staff are
taking a lead role in developing services
locally and nationally:

Endometriosis – RCHT experts have played a
key role in the development of new national
guides, launched by the Royal College of
Nursing. The guides support the role of clinical
nurse specialists in endometriosis and are
based on the service developed in Cornwall
which was among the first to be accredited as
an Endometriosis Centre in the UK.

Iron Deficient Anaemia – as part of its blood
management programme, a new service has
been established in collaboration with our
commissioners to provide a community-based,
nurse-led model of care that is reducing the
need for regular blood transfusion.  The
model of care has been used at the launch of
the Anaemia Manifesto as a blueprint for use
or adaptation in other parts of the UK.
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Our workforce profile

At the end of 2015/16, we employed 5177
part time and full time staff, 77% of whom 

are female and 23% male.  The breakdown by
staff group is shown in the graph below.

Inclusion and Equality

Equality Statement

Royal Cornwall Hospitals Trust is committed to
delivering inclusive health services for all in a
dignified and respectful way by a workforce
which is equally respected. We recognise that
all patients, staff and members of the public
are individuals and we will strive to meet their
needs. As an organisation we will endeavour
to ensure that no one is discriminated against
or treated unfairly due to age, disability, race,
religion or belief, gender, sexual orientation,
gender reassignment, marriage/civil
partnership or pregnancy/maternity. Where
necessary we will make every effort to ensure
adjustments are made to prevent less
equitable experiences occurring.

The Trust applied to the Employers Network
for Equality & Inclusion to examine our 

progress on being inclusive and supportive
employers. We were awarded silver, which was
a great achievement, and we will endeavour
to reach gold in the coming years.

We have also introduced two staff networks
to ensure the voices of minority groups are
heard by the Trust. These groups are for staff
with impairments or health conditions and
staff from minority ethnic backgrounds. It is
hoped that further networks will be
established in the future.

More detailed information can be found in
the Annual Equality Report on our website:
www.rcht.nhs.uk which also looks at equality
and inclusivity in relation to our patients.
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Workforce by staff group and age - Headcount

* Data as at 31.12.2015 headcount

Payscale
Description

Under 21 21 - 30 31 - 40 41 - 50 51 - 60 61 - 70 71 & above

Band 1 5 9 2 9 7 5 0

Band 2 43 337 246 327 314 95 5

Band 3 1 77 147 179 203 70 0

Band 4 0 73 126 146 151 37 2

Band 5 0 257 354 362 282 66 4

Band 6 0 74 228 274 229 44 1

Band 7 0 14 84 169 142 10 1

Band 8 - A 0 0 21 34 31 3 0

Band 8 - B 0 0 10 16 23 3 0

Band 8 - C 0 0 4 8 12 0 0

Band 8 - D 0 0 5 3 6 0 0

Band 9 0 0 2 2 2 0 0

Medical 0 235 192 195 97 22 1

Grand total 49 1076 1421 1724 1499 355 14

Ethnicity Percentage (%)

White british 86.53

Undefined 6.40

White other 3.90

Asian 1.42

Multi ethnic 0.74

Black 0.36

Other 0.29

Chinese 0.24

Filipino 0.11

Ethnicity
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Payscale comparison by gender

Staff declaration of disability

AfC Payscale
Description

Female Male

Headcount Headcount

Band 1 15 22

Band 2 1083 279

Band 3 563 115

Band 4 432 102

Band 5 1159 165

Band 6 719 130

Band 7 329 91

Band 8 - A 61 28

Band 8 - B 32 20

Band 8 - C 13 11

Band 8 - D 9 5

Band 9 2 4

Disabled Female Male Female % Male % Total %

No 3821 1100 61.79 17.79 79.58

Not declared 255 109 4.12 1.76 5.88

Undefined 544 152 8.80 2.46 11.26

Yes 151 52 2.44 0.84 3.28

Total 4771 1413 77.15 22.85 100
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Integrating care

We were delighted with the announcement
from NHS Kernow that our Consortium (made
up of Cornwall Partnership NHS Foundation
Trust, RCHT and Kernow Health Community
Interest Company) was named as the preferred
provider for adult community health services
from 1 April 2016, taking over the running of
services formerly provided by Peninsula
Community Health.  This includes the
community hospitals across Cornwall.
Employees of Peninsula Community Health
were transferred to Cornwall Partnership
Foundation Trust.

Our united ambition is to offer more joined
up care, centred on the patient and with less
organisational bureaucracy.  Work has already
begun to look at how we can deliver services
differently and more effectively and this will
continue at pace over the coming year.

This development aligns closely with our need
to play a full part in the development of a
Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP) for
Cornwall & the Isles of Scilly. The STP is intended
to describe how health and social care will be
provided for the population based around need
and place rather than organisation. 

As part of this, local leaders will be required
to set out clear plans to pursue the triple aim
set out in the NHS 5 Year Forward View: 

• improved health and wellbeing; 
• transformed quality of care delivery; 
• sustainable finances.

Tackling delayed transfers of care

RCHT has more than double the average
number of patients who are ready to leave
our acute hospitals but who are unable to do
so because of their need for ongoing care in a
community hospital, residential home or care
in their own home.

Tackling this problem requires the combined
input of partner organisations across the
health and social care community and it was
clear from our Care Quality Commission
inspection in January that more rapid
progress is needed.

This will be a top priority for 2016/17and an
issue that forms a key part of the
Sustainability and Transformation Plan.

During the last year we have also taken a
fresh look at our internal processes to
support patient discharge to ensure that
clinical teams, patients, their families and
carers are all working towards an expected
date of discharge, thus prompting earlier
planning for anticipated ongoing needs.

This has been achieved through better
recording and review of each patient’s
expected date of discharge and importantly
their ‘clinically stable date’ – the point at
which a patient is considered ready to
leave hospital.
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Enhance services provided from St Michael’s
and West Cornwall hospitals and the East of
the County

There were more Orthopaedic and Breast
operations at St Michael’s Hospital in 2015/16
than ever before with over 4600 patients
going through theatres, an increase on 800 on
the previous year.  

This means than over 92% of elective RCHT
breast operations and over 70% of elective
orthopaedic operations now take place at St
Michael’s Hospital.  Our surgeons undertook
1577 operating lists across the 4 theatres, an
increase of more than 200 on 2014/15.

For all those patients having hip and knee
operations the length of stay is reducing year
on year with the help of anaesthetic
techniques and intensive input from the 

therapists. More and more patients are now
able to get out of bed and stand up on the
same day as their operation.

In addition St Michael’s Hospital also
accommodated over 400 orthopaedic post
operation transfers from the Royal Cornwall
Hospital, providing patients with excellent
rehabilitation and relieving pressure at the
main site.

Plans for 2016/17 include further investment in
therapy resources and extended theatre lists
to increase further the number of patients
receiving care and treatment at St Michael’s.
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Working with partners and stakeholders

HealthWatch

We have continued to build our relationship
with HealthWatch Cornwall and HealthWatch
Isles of Scilly whose ‘watchdog’ role provides
our patients and community with an
independent voice through which to raise
concerns or congratulation.

The feedback we regularly receive from
Healthwatch is crucial in helping us ensure
that the issues important to the residents of
Cornwall and the Isles of Scily are heard and
acted upon.  Healthwatch Isles of Scilly
facilitated us to visit the Islands, where seeing
and hearing issues at first hand, against a local
context, has increased our understanding and
resolve to seize every opportunity for
innovative working for the benefit of
Isles of Scilly residents.

The work of HealthWatch Cornwall during the
past year has made a particular contribution
to our equality and inclusion agenda and we
thank them for their leading role in improve
care for patients with hearing loss.
Representatives from HealthWatch Cornwall
have also held monthly ‘surgeries’ at the
Royal Cornwall Hospital engaging with
patients and visitors and sharing their
feedback with the Trust.

A report in January 2016 considered the
outcomes of an end of life care conference
hosted by HealthWatch Cornwall.  The
findings are now feeding into the changes we
are making to ensure patients and families are
fully involved, there is better sharing of
information between relevant agencies and
that in doing so we work together to do all
we can to meet individual choices.

Leagues of Friends 

Our Leagues of Friends have
continued to carry out a wide
range of supporting roles
from reception hosts to library
trolley services, coffee bars
to befriending.

The Friends of the Royal Cornwall Hospital
(RCH) marked its 70th Anniversary in 2015 and
celebrations included an Appeal to raise
£40,000 towards specialist equipment to
support the expansion of the bowel cancer
screening programme in Cornwall.

The year also saw the Friends of RCH selected
as charity of the year for the Sainsbury’s Truro
store, where staff and customers have added
to fundraising efforts.

Aside from the fundraising and over
£115,000 of donations for a wide range of
items for wards and departments across the
hospital, the Friends of RCH make up the large
proportion of the hospital’s 400-strong team
of volunteers, under the umbrella of the
Trust’s Voluntary and Pastoral Care Team. 

Our Friends and West Cornwall Hospital, St
Michael’s Hospital and Marie Therese House
have also continued to support their
respective hospitals through fundraising,
volunteering and other activities.  

At Marie Therese House the Friends were
thrilled to receive a substantial donation after a
charity rugby event in honour of a long-term
patient raised almost £8,000.  The Friends are
now working with staff at the specialist
neuro-rehab centre on the St Michael’s Hospital
site on plans to improve physiotherapy and
occupational therapy facilities.
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Achieve year on year improvement with a
deficit of no more than £5.5M by March 2016

At the outset of 2015/16 the Trust Board had
originally agreed a planned deficit of £5.5m.
This was reduced to a deficit of £3.8m in
August 2015 to reflect unprecedented financial
challenges in the NHS and targeted
improvements across all organisations.
However significant operational pressure
emerging during the year, principally to ensure
the continued delivery of safe care as demand
on services increased, together with under
performance on the Cost Improvement Plan,
resulted in the Trust reporting a deficit for
2015/16 of £6.9 million.

The shortfall in the year was due to: 

•  continued significant over spending
in clinical divisions as a result of
operational pressures; 

•  failure to deliver the Cost Improvement
Programme; 

•  a significant amount of non-elective income
being received at a marginal rate of 30% (a
loss of £1.1m above that expected);

•  high levels of expenditure on variable pay
and in particular agency staff.

Maximise clinical and financial benefit from the
£14m base capital programme

Investing in equipment and our environment

During the year we have continued to invest in
our clinical site development programme,
together with medical capital equipment and
Information Technology (IT).  

This has seen the refurbishment of three wards –
Kerensa, Eden and Tintagel - and the endoscopy
unit, as well as installation of a new CT scanner.
Construction works also commenced on The
Cove – a cancer information and support centre
being built in partnership with Macmillan who
have funded the project alongside a public
fundraising appeal.

The ward refurbishments have included a
£1.6 million investment to create a purpose-
designed environment on Kerensa ward to
support those with dementia and memory loss.

It includes a communal ‘lounge’ area where
patients can socialise, equipped with familiar
items and memorabilia.  The space is also used
for the weekly memory café sessions facilitated
by volunteers from Truro & Penwith College’s
health and social care related studies.

Installation of the new CT scanner began just
before the end of the financial year, with its
official opening taking place on the 60th
anniversary of the opening of the Royal
Cornwall Hospital, Treliske site. The 128 slice
scanner is among the most advanced currently
available in the UK, capable of faster and
better definition imaging using lower doses
of radiation. 

The endoscopy unit required a major upgrade
of the environment to enhance patient safety
and care and to ensure our facilities meet the
high standards required to be accredited to
undertake work for the national bowel cancer
screening programme.   The project was
fortunate to also benefit from a significant
investment from the Friends of the Royal
Cornwall Hospital whose donation of £40,000
allowed the purchase of additional equipment
to support extension of the screening
programme to those aged 55.

The CT scanner and endoscopy unit projects
were particularly complex, requiring both
services to maintain operational activity
through the programmes of work.   The clinical
and estates teams, together with the respective
contractors are to be congratulated for
delivering both projects with minimum
disruption to services or inconvenience
to patients.

Supporting the environment

Building on initiatives such as resource
monitoring, use of solar power, reducing
waste and having an Active Travel Plan in
place, the Trust has agreed a £7 million
contract with Cofely using the Carbon and
Energy Fund framework to upgrade the
energy infrastructure across our three sites.
This will reduce our carbon footprint as well
as energy bills. The project will include more
solar panels, a new biomass boiler and
combined heat and power plant and the
installation of LED lighting.
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eHealth supporting safer and more cost
effective care

RCHT was successful in its bid to be at the
forefront of innovative barcode technology
that is designed to improve safety and has the
potential to save millions across the NHS.  The
Trust has been awarded £2.2 million to pilot
the project along with 6 other Trusts across
England to be taking part in the Scan4Safety
project which will use barcode technology to
track patients, their medication and other
aspects of their treatment.

Major Information Technology projects over the
coming year include the use of eObservation, an
‘app’ based system that keeps track of individual
patient observations, prompting the need for
clinical intervention and alerting nursing and
medical staff to potential deterioration of a
patient’s condition.

The introduction of eNotes, replacing
traditional health records and a replacement
for our core Patient Administration System
(PAS) is planned for May 2017.

We are also investing in digital and voice
recognition technology to speed up the
process of clinical correspondence so that
latest diagnoses and/outpatient review are
more quickly available to all staff involved in a
patient’s care - particularly beneficial for
patients with complex conditions who may
have several clinicians involved in their care or
who have frequent admission to hospital,
whilst also releasing clinical admin time for
other essential tasks.
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Delivering our objectives

RCHT has prepared its 2015/16 annual
accounts on a going concern basis. After
making enquiries the directors have a
reasonable expectation that the Trust has
adequate resources to continue in operation
for the foreseeable future. For this reason,
they continue to adopt the going concern
basis in preparing the accounts.

The Board considers the annual report and
accounts, as a whole, to be fair, balanced and
understandable and provide the necessary
information for patients, regulators and other
stakeholders to assess the Trust’s performance,
business model and strategy. The Board has
included a statement of the principle risks and
uncertainties facing RCHT.

RCHT is a statutory body which came into
being on 1 April 1992. The Trust’s core
purpose is to provide outstanding clinical care,
academic support as a Teaching Hospitals Trust
and an environment conducive to research
development and innovation.

The Board of Directors recognises the need
to drive continued cost improvement in
response to the financial challenges being felt
through the NHS and the public sector. As part
of its planning the Board agreed a cost
improvement programme aimed at achieving 

recurrent savings of £15 million. This has to
be delivered in an environment where
expectations and demands on services
continue to increase and in the context of
our ambition to provide ‘outstanding’ patient
care.  £7 million of this programme was
delivered in year.

We have been putting effort into working
with our partners to identify and implement
changes to conventional models of patient
care and the pace of this transformation
must quicken. This is needed to ensure the
services we deliver are done so in the most
appropriate setting, which may well be
outside of our acute hospitals, and thus
providing a more convenient service for
patients and more cost effective solution for
the taxpayer.

Significant work is on-going to develop cost
improvement plans for 2016/17, using
productivity and efficiency opportunities
based on benchmarking data, historical
performance and the opportunities identified
by Lord Carter’s work nationally. The Trust
needs to be ambitious when setting savings
targets to recover its financial position as
quickly as possible, but realistic also. The
target for 2016/17 remains at £15m.

Financial performance

What we spend our income on

Pay £214,301,000

Clinical supplies and services £81,022,000

General supplies and services £15,025,000

Property and transport £13,464,000

Clinical negligence and other insurance £6,236,000

Depreciation £12,272,000

Services we buy from other organisations £4,272,000

Other costs £13,983,000

Total expenditure £360,575,000
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Staff group £ M

Medical and dental 68.496

Senior management, administration and estates 36.790

Healthcare assistants and other support staff 18.513

Nursing, midwifery and health visiting staff 58.981

Scientific, therapeutic and technical staff 32.813

Total expenditure £215.593

Breakdown of payroll expenditure (£M)

More detail on our financial performance is provided later in this report.

* (inc capitalised payroll costs)
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Our operational plan for 2016/17 sets out clear objectives for the year, consistent with
our strategic vision.

‘Working together to achieve outstanding care’

To do this we have agreed four strategic aims which are translated each year into specific
objectives.  These are summarised below:

Look forward 2016/17

The Five Year Forward View (5YFV) has
offered the opportunity for local health
economies to explore new system models and
move at pace toward the delivery of
integrated care, with greater focus on
prevention than intervention.

There is ample evidence that a focus on
organisational models do not in itself improve
the quality of care, but rather it is the impact of
effective partnerships and integrated provision
that enables change. A first step in this is the
creation of the Provider Consortium which
brings health and social care providers together.

The ambition is to work as one organisation
and exploit our joint potential e.g. responding
to the Lord Carter report, standardising our
staff polices to allow more flexible working,
attracting investment and service redesign
across boundaries. The Trust Board will
consider the input of RCHT to the Consortium
and the pace of transition to an integrated
care provider model, during 2016/17.

The 2016/17 plan represents year one of a
5-year planning period for which all health
systems are required to develop a single
Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP).
This will need to show how all partners will
work together to redesign health and social
care services in order to achieve better health
for the local population, high quality care and
sustainable finances.

Principle risks and uncertainties

There are significant risks to the delivery of
the plan in relation to population demand,
recruitment potential, agency costs and
capacity to accommodate increasing numbers
of urgent care patients. The Trust Board has
therefore strengthened our risk management
and governance processes to ensure risks are
identified early and effectively mitigated. Our
intent is also to work with partners to improve
system wide governance, develop shared
understanding of system risks and thus inform
the priorities within the 5 year STP. 

Our Vision

‘Working together to provide outstanding care’

Our strategic aims:

Quality People Partnership Resources

Provide compassionate,
safe, effective care 

Attract, develop and
retain excellent staff

Offer, integrated care, as
close to home as possible 

Make the best use
of all of our resources 

Our priorities 2016/17:

• Improve performance
against the 4 hour
emergency care standard

• Reduce hospital death rate
and improve the consistency
of services over 24/7

• Achieve access standards for
planned care 

• Continue to improve patient
experience particularly with
respect to end of life care

• Implement a strategic
workforce plan to support
service transformation

• Improve staff engagement
and wellbeing to make RCHT
a better place to work.  

• Ensure the organisational
development strategy drives a
well led, learning organisation

• Drive the formulation of a
sustainable service plan for
Cornwall and I.O.S

• Collaborate with provider
partners to redesign urgent
care pathways 

• Offer patients prompt,
appropriate discharge

• Recruit more patients into
trials across Cornwall

• Achieve financial recovery and
deliver a surplus in 2 years

• Adopt best practice in
workforce planning to ensure
safe, affordable staffing

• Improve the use of our
resources to increase quality
& save £15m 

• Invest £22m capital, to improve
our equipment, technology,
and facilities  
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Summary of key risks and mitigating actions

Increasing urgent care/emergency demand

This will adversely affect the quality of care and
potentially the safety of patients.  We intend to
increase our medical capacity, work with our
consortium partners on urgent care pathways
and improve our internal efficiency.

Continued high mortality rate

Potential harm could be caused to patients
with subsequent impact on confidence of
patients and our local community, risk to
reputation and further inspection.  We will
continue our open reporting of avoidable
deaths through our public board meetings and
focus on our compliance with care pathways,
extend our mortality review process and the
roll out of eObservation technology. 

Shortfall in the deployment of key clinical and
other professional staff with the right skills in
the right place at the right time

Inability to delivery consistently high quality
patient-centred care; reduced ability to create
new models of care, continued high agency
usage and risk to compliance requirements.
Through our workforce plan we will seek to
reduce reliance on agency staffing and
facilitate the redesign of services.

Insufficient action to strengthen compliance
with regulatory requirements

Quality of patient care and staff wellbeing
could reduce public confidence.  It may also
lead to prosecution and/or regulatory action.
We will address this through Executive-led
action plans, or programme to strengthen
staff engagement and in creating a culture in
which staff feel confident to speak openly and
report incidents and near misses.

Improvements in staff engagement will be
threatened as the Trust addresses its clinical,
operational and financial challenges, at the
pace required

Quality of patient care and staff wellbeing
could reduce public confidence and the
ability to attract high calibre staff. There may
also be further risk to stakeholder confidence.
We intend to build on our Listening into
Action programme to improve staff 

engagement and involvement in making and
delivering service change.

Delay in the whole system integration and
commissioning and provision of health and
care services

Failure to achieve the benefits of integrated
care or to use resources efficiently and
effectively across the system, resulting in a poor
experience for patients and service users.  We
will utilise strong leadership through the
Consortium and the benefits to be brought
about through the collaborative process to
develop the Sustainability and Transformation
Plan for Cornwall.

Finance – contracts with NHS Kernow and NHS
England not agreed, with material income risk.
Demand levels create risk to cost control and
Cost Improvement Programme. Wider system
deficient and potential impact on RCHT

This could lead to a fundamental impact on our
ability to fund critical quality investments and
the affordability of activity to achieve access
standards leading to a negative impact on
waiting times.  There may be wider
consequences for organisational performance
and reputation.  System-wide financial
planning, internal appraisal of cost reduction
options, cash management strategy and Board
oversight of the financial position and
agreement of final control total.

Finance – Cost Improvement Plan target
remains at £15million.  Plans are in place
although £4million rated as high risk and
further work is required on schemes of
£7.5million.  Around £10million of pay-related
schemes with associated whole time
equivalent reductions.

Failure to deliver would impact on our ability
to fund critical quality investments,
affordability of achieving access standards
leading to a negative impact on waiting times.
There may be wider consequences for
organisational performance and reputation.  A
reserve has been set aside to fund investment
to deliver schemes and a Service Improvement
Team created to support delivery of plans.
The workforce resourcing plan has links to
agency controls and service transformation
overseen by the Workforce Operational
Group.  A Non-Pay Board is in place to oversee
non-pay schemes.
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Our Governance Structure

The Trust Board commissioned a governance
review in 2015/16, which has been accepted
and implementation will be completed in
2016/17. The Trust Board receives assurance
directly and through the Non-Executive
chaired Committees which includes the
Governance Committee, Finance Performance
and Investment Committee, and the People
and Organisational Development Committee. 

We proactively manage our risks, which are
described in the Board Assurance Framework,
considered at the Trust Board and published
on our website (www.rcht.nhs.uk).  The key
governance improvements which will be fully
embedded in 2016/17 are: 

•  The establishment of a new Board
Committee ‘People and Organisational
Development’; 

•  Streamlining of the Trust’s Executive
Committee structure; 

•  Clarification and refocus of the remit of
Finance, Performance and Investment, and
Governance Committees; 

•  Substantial review of the Trust Board
reporting on risk, demonstrated
through a more substantial Board
Assurance Framework; 

•  Streamlining of supporting operational
processes e.g. business case decision making; 

•  Changes to the conduct of Board meetings –
with more time and attention on staff and
patient stories, public questions and
transparent reporting; 

•  Streamlining the performance review
meetings with Divisions. 

Further detail can be found in our Operational
Plan 2016/17.

Accountability Report
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Accountability Report

Care Quality Commission:
Standards of quality and safety

The Royal Cornwall Hospitals NHS Trust is
registered with the Care Quality Commission
without conditions. 

During June 2015 there were unannounced
inspections of the following services:

Our rating for Royal Cornwall Hospital

Safe Effective Caring Responsive Well-led Overall

Urgent and
emergency services

Inadequate Not rated N / A
Requires

improvement
N / A Inadequate

Medical care Inadequate N / A N / A Inadequate N / A Inadequate

Surgery Good N / A N / A
Requires

improvement
N / A Good

Critical care N / A N / A N / A N / A N / A

Overall Inadequate N / A N / A
Requires

improvement
N / A Inadequate

Our rating for West Cornwall Hospital

Safe Effective Caring Responsive Well-led Overall

Medical care Good N / A N / A N / A N / A Good

Overall Good N / A N / A N / A N / A Good

Our rating for Royal Cornwall Hospital NHS Trust

Safe Effective Caring Responsive Well-led Overall

Medical care Inadequate N / A N / A
Requires

improvement
N / A

Requires
improvement
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Following this inspection, enforcement action
resulted in a Section 29A warning notice in
respect of concerns regarding staffing levels in
the hospitals’ urgent and emergency care
services.  Following a re-inspection in October
the warning notice was lifted. 

Full reports on the 2015 inspections can be
found at: www.cqc.org.uk

In January 2016 the Trust underwent a planned
inspection by the CQC. The Trust received an
overall rating of ‘Requires Improvement’.

More detailed information on quality
governance, quality of care and quality
improvement can be found in our Quality
Accounts for 2015/16. 

These are available on our website:
www.rcht.nhs.uk or on the Care Quality
Commission website: www.cqc.org.uk, or by
writing to:

Mrs Lynsey Neave
Corporate Services Manager
Bedruthan House 
Royal Cornwall Hospital
TRURO
TR1 3LJ
Email: rcht.chiefexecutive@nhs.net 

Accountability Report
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Accountability Report

Quality Performance against mandatory standards

Quality – to provide outstanding health care services

Target Actual
Change from
2014/15

Safety

Hospital standardised mortality
rate

<=100 103.67 ↑
Never Events 0 2 ↓

Serious Incidents 74 85 ↑
Healthcare

associated infections

MRSA bacteraemia 0 1 -

Cases of Clostridium difficile 23 33 ↑
Emergency access

4 hour emergency
access standard

95% 82.1 ↓
Cancer

Cancer waits against 31 and
62 day targets

Achieved Achieved -

Stroke
Percentage of patients spending
more than 90% of their time in a

stroke unit
82% 54.49% -

Quality exception
reporting

Percentage of eligible patients
risk assessed for VTE

95% 97.59% -

Percentage of fractured neck of
femur patients having an
operation within 36 hours

75% 72.25% ↑

Research,
development

and innovation
Recruitment

2700 new
patients

2819 ↑

Patient Experience

Friends and Family Test positive
recommendation

95% 96% ↑
Friends and Family Test
A&E recommendation

95% 95% ↑
Mixed sex

accommodation breaches
0 30 ↑

Access and
waiting times

Referral to treatment
within 18 weeks

92% 93.74% ↓
Proportion of patients receiving

key diagnostic tests
within 6 weeks

99% 99.68% -

Short notice cancellations 5.54% ↑
Productivity and

patient flow

Length of stay more than 10 days 26.89% 30.26% ↑
Day case rate 85.18% 85.22% ↑

Average length of stay 2.9 days 3.4 days ↑
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Target Actual
Change from
2014/15

Delayed transfers
of care

Percentage of days lost due to
delayed transfers of care

<3.5% 6.28% ↑

Partnership – to collaborate and innovate with our partners

Target Actual
Change from
2014/15

Workforce plan
Total staffing

(whole time equivalent)
4805 4779 ↓

Sickness absence
Percentage of contracted staff
(whole time equivalent) lost

to sickness
3.75% 4.37% ↓

Turnover
Percentage of contracted staff
(whole time equivalent) lost

to sickness
10 - 14% 12.6% ↓

Mandatory training
Percentage of staff completed

mandatory training in last
12 months

100% 80.3% -

Appraisal
Proportion of staff appraised

in last 12 months
100% 100% ↓

People – to make best use of our expert skills and capabilities

Target Actual
Change from
2014/15

Income Total income (£m’s) 355.8 ↓
Bottom line income

& expenditure
Total expenditure 362.7 ↓

Cost
improvement plan

Year end cost
improvement achieved

7.0 ↓
Expenditure

Cumulative variable pay
compared to previous year

29.6 ↑
Capital expenditure Within capital resourcing limit Yes -

Public sector
payment policy

Performance against the prompt
payment code

88% ↓
Financial risk rating Continuity of services risk rating 1 ↓

Resources – make efficient use of all of our resources to underpin service transformation

Accountability Report
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Accountability Report

Around 2.5% of the Trusts income was linked to achievement of goals to improvement care in a
number of areas against nationally and locally set targets.  In total this amounted to
approximately £6 million.

Baseline
July 2015

March 2016

CQUINs (national)

Percentage of key items included
in the reviewed Acute Kidney

Injury (AKI) discharge summary
42% 93& ↑

i) Percentage of patients who
met the criteria of the local

protocol for sepsis screening and
were screened for sepsis

38% 80% ↑

ii) Percentage of severe sepsis
patients that were administered

intravenous antibiotics within
1 hour of arrival

66.7% TBC

Percentage of eligible patients
asked case finding question

n / a 99.19% ↑
Improving the accuracy of
diagnosis recording in the
Emergency Department
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Listening to Patients and Carers

Friends and Family Test

The Friends and Family Test is an important
real time measure of our patients’ experience.
Alongside the standard question asking
whether a patient would recommend the
ward or service they have used to family and
friends, an extended questionnaire allows us
to learn more about wider aspects of their
care and treatment.  These additional
questions centre on the core aspects of our
CARE Campaign which is concentrates on the
fundamental elements of care, namely:

• Caring with compassion

• Assisting with toileting, maintaining dignity

• Relieving pain

• Ensuring adequate nutrition and hydration

Across the year 96% of patients responding to
the Friends and Family Test said they would
recommend the ward or department they
were visiting.  The figure for the Emergency
Department and Urgent Care Centre was
marginally lower at 95%.  These scores remain
high and compare favourably with other
Trusts across England.

A similar survey is also carried out for our
maternity services and whilst positive ratings
are received for antenatal care, care during
delivery (almost 99% of women received one to
one care) and postnatal community care, a
marked drop is noted in relation to postnatal
care on the maternity ward.  This is being acted
upon by the maternity and team and whilst not
wholly to do with environmental factors, it is
hoped the planned reconfiguration and
refurbishment of the maternity and neonatal
units at the Royal Cornwall Hospital will play a
part in improving the experience for mothers,
babies and families.

A priority for 2016/17 is to increase the
response rate to the Friends and Family Test
which currently stands at 20% and is below
the national average.  This will include the
introduction of electronic and touch screen
systems to enable quicker and easier access to
the survey.

Accountability Report
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Learning from Patient Concerns and Complaints

During the year we received 454 formal
complaints for investigation, 90 fewer than
received in 2014/15.  This is set in the context
of over 650,000 patient contacts and 2474
letters and expressions of thanks, around 350
more than recorded in 2014/15.  The Patient
Advice and Liaison Service saw a steady rise in
the number of enquiries during the last
quarter of the year.

The key themes for complaints, in order of
prevalence, have been:

• Admission and discharges

• Communication

• Clinical treatment

• Access to treatment or drugs

• Facilities

• Patient care

• Values and behaviours 

A new complaints handling process was
implemented close to the end of the year
to improve response times and ensure
complaints are triaged and responded to
within 25 or 45 working days.  

Ratings for our hospitals on the NHS Choices
(www.nhs.uk) have remained good, with
overall scores of 5 stars for West Cornwall
and St Michael’s Hospitals and 4.5 stars for
the Royal Cornwall Hospital.

Accountability Report
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Our Board of Directors is collectively
responsible for all aspects of performance of
the Trust, including financial performance,
clinical and service quality, management and
governance.  The Board is legally accountable
for the services provided by the Trust and key
responsibilities include:

• Ensuring services are delivered according to
our Trust values

• Setting the strategic direction

• Ensuring adequate systems and processes
are maintained to deliver the Trust’s
business / operational plan

• Ensuring robust governance arrangements
are in place supported by an effective
assurance framework that supports sound
systems of internal control

• Ensuring rigorous performance management
enabling the Trust to achieve local and
national targets

• Seeking continuous improvement
and innovation

• Measure and monitor the Trust’s
effectiveness and efficiency

• Ensuring, at all times, compliance with
regulatory standards

The Board of Directors is also responsible for
establishing standards of conduct for the Trust
and its staff and that its values and accepted
standards of behaviour in public life (The
Nolan Principles) are adhered to.

The Board comprises of 6 Non-Executive
Directors (including a Non-Executive Chairman)
and 6 executive directors. 

The NHS Trust Development Authority
(now NHS Improvement) is responsible
for appointing Trust Chairs and other
Non-Executive Directors.  The remuneration
of Non-Executive Directors is determined
nationally. Executive Directors are appointed
through national advertisement, on
permanent contracts. Remuneration for
Executive Directors is agreed by the
Remuneration Committee.

The Board considers all of its Non-Executive
Directors to be independent in both
character and judgement.  Board
performance and development takes
place through focussed discussion at
Board ‘away days’, strategic meetings and
meetings with the Trust Development
Authority (now NHS Improvement). 

All directors undergo annual performance
evaluation and appraisal.  The Chairman
assesses the performance of the Non-Executive
Directors, reporting the outcome to the
Remuneration Committee. The Chief Executive
accesses the performance of the Executive
Directors and, following discussion with the
Non-Executive Directors, the Chief Executive is
appraised by the Chairman. The outcome of
these appraisals is reported to the Board’s
Remuneration Committee.

Board of Directors
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Trust Board Membership as at 31 May 2016

Non-Executive Directors

Dr Jon Andrewes - Chairman

Jon joined the Trust in July 2015 from Torbay
and Southern Devon Health and Care NHS
Trust - an integrated health and adult social
care organisation.  Jon has extensive
leadership experience at large NHS, private
and third sector organisations including
establishing the Government’s first successful
single regeneration trust and leading the
Groundwork South West environmental
regeneration company. Between 2000 and
2011 he chaired Brixham 21 – a public interest
company established to promote regeneration
opportunities in the Brixham community.
Between 2005 and March 2015 Dr Andrewes
was also Chief Executive at St Margaret’s
Somerset Hospice where he led pioneering
services and choice for patients and their
families facing a life limiting illness.

Roger Gazzard - Vice Chairman

Roger is a born and bred Cornishman. A
qualified accountant who spent thirteen years
as a Director of a group of companies in the
waste management and haulage industry
sectors. He has also worked in local authority
finance both locally and nationally. In recent
years he ran a company providing business
advice to small and medium businesses. Since
the beginning of 2011 he has held the
position of Town Clerk to Truro City Council.
Having been appointed in 2007, Roger is now
in his third term of office.

Charlotte Russell

Charlotte joined the Trust in October 2013.
She was a Non-Executive Director at the South
Western Ambulance Service for nine years and
part of the team that achieved NHS
Foundation Trust status in 2011. She is a
company director of an organic farming
business with her partner and has been
involved in the strategic development of the 

food and farming industry in Cornwall for 
many years. She is currently Business
Development Manager at the Eden Project
and has previously worked in both print and
broadcast media with a particular interest in
the environment.

Dr Mairi Mclean

Mairi has a background in social work,
psychology and leadership and has held senior
positions in local government and is a former
Council Chief Executive Officer.  Mairi
currently runs her own consultancy business
which provides leadership and executive
coaching, strategic planning and team
development.  She also holds a number of
other local and national advisory and visiting
lecturer positions.

Paul Hobson

Paul joined the Trust Board in February 2016.
Paul is the Chief Executive of the CSW Group
which is owned by the local authorities in
Cornwall and Devon. CSW provide a range of
services and products, supporting people and
businesses across the South and West. Paul has
held senior director posts for over 30 years in
the public and private sector having started
his clinical career as a radiographer in his
native Cornwall.

Sarah Pryce 

Sarah is a former Head of Human Resources and
Organisational Development at the Royal
National Lifeboat Institution (RNLI). She joined
the Trust Board in February 2016 and is currently
a Trustee at Cornwall Air Ambulance Trust and
owns her own consultancy company specialising
in leadership and organisational development.  

Board of Directors



48
Royal Cornwall Hospitals NHS Trust • Annual Report 2015 - 2016

Trust Board Membership as at 31 May 2016

Executive Directors

Kathy Byrne, Chief Executive

Kathy joined the board of RCHT in April 2016.
She has a long and distinguished career as a
health service Chief Executive in Australia and
was formerly head of Health Support
Queensland and Deputy Director General at
Queensland Department of Health.  She has
considerable experience of leading major
healthcare organisations and transforming
health and social care systems.

Andrew MacCallum - Deputy Chief Executive

Andrew joined RCHT in May 2012. He was
formerly Director of Nursing and Lifelong
Learning at Chelsea & Westminster Hospital
NHS Foundation Trust in London and Director
of Nursing at Queen Mary's Sidcup NHS Trust.
Before coming to RCHT Andrew was Pro
Vice-Chancellor and Dean of the College of
Nursing Midwifery and Healthcare at the
University of West of London. Andrew served
as interim Chief Executive from October 2015
to April 2016 prior to Ms Byrne’s appointment.

Dr Rob Parry - Medical Director

Rob has worked at RCHT since 2000 and has
played a key part in a host of developments
within the renal service. Alongside that he has
carried out a number of roles involving
strategy development, implementation and
working across multi disciplinary teams. These
include having been Renal Departmental Lead,
over four years as Clinical Director for Acute
Medicine, and five years as Renal Network
Clinical Director for the Peninsula. Rob has
also led Trust work on organ donation, clinical
coding and appraisal.

Christine Perry, Interim Nurse Director

Christine was Director of Nursing at West Area
Health NHS Trust before joining RCHT in
November 2015.  Christine has an extensive
history in nursing leadership, including
Assistant Director of Nursing at University

Hospitals Bristol, and has undertaken
significant work for both the Department of
Health and the NHS South West Strategic
Health Authority on infection prevention and
control. 

Paul Bostock - Chief Operating Officer

Paul took up post as Chief Operating Officer
in October 2015. He was formerly in a similar
role at Surrey & Sussex Healthcare NHS Trust.
Prior to this he was Associate Director for
Surgical Services at Frimley Park Hospital NHS
Foundation Trust where he led on many
initiatives to improve patient experience
and operational efficiency.  Paul began his
career in the NHS in 1994 as a clinical coder
and has worked in many roles across
community and acute care, as well as a
secondment with the Department of Health
supporting Military Hospital Defence Units
during the 2003 Gulf War.

Karl Simkins- Director of Finance
and Performance

Karl joined the Trust in July 2010, coming
from a similar role at NHS Leicester County
and Rutland - one of the largest Primary Care
Trusts in the country.  Karl has extensive
experience of working across acute Trust,
Strategic Health Authority (SHA) and Primary
Care Trust organisations, including an
SHA role reviewing Trust's readiness for
Foundation status.

Ethna McCarthy – Director of Strategy and
Business Development

Ethna is an experienced Director having
held a range of senior posts since 1995
across all sectors of the NHS. A chartered
accountant by profession, Ethna has
significant experience covering finance,
business planning, strategic development,
risk management, and research and
development.  Ethna successfully lead
the Cornwall Partnership NHS Foundation
Trust application as their Finance Director in
2010. Ethna joined the Board of RCHT in
January 2012.
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Declarations of Interests of the Board of Directors

The Register of Declared Interests for the Board of Directors is held by the Company Secretary and
is available for public inspection.  Members of the public can gain access by contacting:

Mrs Lynsey Neave
Corporate Services Manager
Bedruthan House
Royal Cornwall Hospital
TRURO
TR1 3LJ
Email: rcht.chiefexecutive@nhs.net 

Board of Directors
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Membership and Shadow Council of Governors

Following the decision to put our Foundation
Trust application on hold our shadow board of
governors agreed to pause their terms of
office until the process recommences.  They
have however agreed to continue to support
the Trust and contribute to ongoing
engagement with our local community.

We have continued to recruit new public
members, concentrating efforts on those
groups of the population where we are less
well represented, including young people and
minority groups.  As at 31 March 2016 our
membership stood at 7,522.

Our members have been invited to participate
in a number of ‘Let’s talk’ events targeted at
specific medical conditions, research or
recruitment.  These have proven highly
successful and are set to continue during the
coming year.

Board of Directors
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The Chief Executive of the NHS Trust
Development Authority has designated that
the Chief Executive should be the Accountable
Officer to the Trust.  The relevant
responsibilities of Accountable Officers are set
out in the Accountable Officers Memorandum
issued by the Chief Executive of the NHS Trust
Development Authority. These include
ensuring that: 

• there are effective management systems in
place to safeguard public funds and assets
and assist in the implementation of
corporate governance; 

• value for money is achieved from the
resources available to the Trust; 

• the expenditure and income of the Trust
has been applied to the purposes intended
by Parliament and conform to the
authorities which govern them;

• effective and sound financial management
systems are in place; and 

• annual statutory accounts are prepared in a
format directed by the Secretary of State
with the approval of the Treasury to give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs as
at the end of the financial year and the
income and expenditure, recognised gains
and losses and cash flows for the year.

To the best of my knowledge and belief, I
have properly discharged the responsibilities
set out in my letter of appointment as an
Accountable Officer.

I confirm that, as far as I am aware, there is no
relevant audit information of which the Trust’s
auditors are unaware, and I have taken all the
steps that I ought to have taken to make
myself aware of any relevant audit
information and to establish that the Trust’s
auditors are aware of that information.

I confirm that the annual report and accounts
as a whole is fair, balanced and
understandable and that I take personal
responsibility for the annual report and
accounts and the judgments required for
determining that it is fair, balanced and
understandable. 

Signed: Kathy Byrne
Chief Executive 

Date: 26 May 2016

Governance and Organisational Arrangements

Accountable Officer’s Statement of Responsibility

Statement of the Chief Executive's responsibilities as the Accountable Officer of the Trust
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The Board is accountable for internal control.
As Accountable Officer, and Chief Executive of
this Board, I have responsibility for
maintaining a sound system of internal control
that supports the achievement of the
organisation’s policies, aims and objectives.  I
also have responsibility for safeguarding the
public funds and the organisation’s assets for
which I am personally responsible as set out in
the Accountable Officer Memorandum.

The Trust’s Risk Management Strategy states
that the Chief Executive is ultimately
responsible for effective risk management
within the Trust.  At an operational level, this
role has been delegated to the Nurse Director
with day to day responsibility for risk
management delegated to senior managers
throughout the Trust.

Delivery against these responsibilities is
scrutinised by the Trust’s Executive and Non-
Executive Directors, through meetings of the
Trust Board and Board sub-committees namely
the Governance committee, Audit Committee
and Finance, Performance & Investment
Committee.  Minutes and reports from these
committees are reviewed in Board meetings,
of which a number are held in public.  The
work of the committees and the decisions of
the Trust Board provide evidence of the on-
going efforts to ensure that the overall
governance, risk management and clinical
governance systems are operating as they
are supposed to.  

The Trust is part of a local health economy
and national health system. In recognition,
the Trust’s planning and key objectives reflect
the strong focus that is now placed on
improved and expanded integrated and
partnership working.

The Trust is accountable to the NHS Trust
Development Authority (TDA) for performance
and regulation control and oversight. From
the 1st April 2016 the TDA merged with
Monitor, the regulator of Foundation Trusts to
become NHS Improvement (NHSI).

Under the auspices of the provider
Accountability Framework, NHS Improvement
hold a range of meetings with the Chief
Executive and Executive Directors where
generic and health system wide issues of
performance and control are discussed,
reviewed and actions agreed. In addition, the
Trust has regular meetings with senior officers,
patients and other interested parties across
the local health community. The range of
these meetings includes:

• Monthly Integrated Delivery Meeting (IDM)
reporting to TDA (NHSI) on operational and
financial performance and governance
issues with further meetings at regional and
national level;

• Monthly performance meetings with NHS
Kernow (Cornwall Clinical Commissioning
Group -  KCCG) and the Devon and
Cornwall Area Team (AT); 

• Joint meetings with other Health Service
Providers (including Cornwall Council,
Cornwall Foundation Trust and Peninsula
Community Health (now merged
from 1/4/16);

• Regular meetings with service users’
representative groups, including Local
Health Watch, Patient Ambassadors and
numerous patient groups throughout the
Trust; and

• Regular attendance at the Health and Social
Care Scrutiny Committee meetings.

Signed: Kathy Byrne
Chief Executive 

Date: 26 May 2016

Governance and Organisational Arrangements

Governance Statement 2015-16 

(A) Scope of Responsibility
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The Trust Board is active in reviewing internal
control and risk management arrangements for
the Trust. This is achieved through the
maintenance and review of the Board Assurance
Framework (BAF) and the consideration of
matters brought to the Board and its
sub-committees attention. Additionally,
significant internal control issues continue to be
reported to the Chief Executive immediately;
and to the Trust Management Committee, Audit
Committee and Trust Board at the earliest
opportunity. 

The Trust commissioned an external
governance review in 2015 to review the
effectiveness and robustness of the
organisations governance arrangements.  This
was presented to the Board in September
2015, with an agreed programme of
implementation of reviewing and progressing
agreed recommendations.  The report
highlighted the following cross-cutting themes
to be addressed through a series of
recommendations, linked to the Terms
of Reference: 

• Enhancing the focus on quality and
patient experience;

• Ensuring a clear clinical strategy;

• Clarifying the accountability framework;

• Strengthening corporate governance
arrangements; and

• Shaping a more positive culture for
the organisation.

An action plan has been drawn together
to respond to the recommendations and
good progress is being made in relation to
delivery, including:-

• A refreshed Board Assurance Framework (BAF);

• Strengthened risk management across the Trust;

• Enhancements to committee structures;

• Development of an overarching Patient
Care Improvement Plan;

• Strengthened assurances with regard to
patient experience and health and safety; and 

• Development of new clinical structures

intended to strengthen clinical engagement.

The Trust’s committee structure and coverage
of each Committee is included in each
Committee’s Terms of Reference as approved
by the Board.

In addition, the Charitable Funds Committee
ensures that there are effective structures and
systems in place to manage the charitable
funds of the Trust in accordance with any
statutory or other legal requirements or best
practice required by the Charities Commission.
Critical responsibilities relating to governance
are set out below:

The Audit Committee is responsible for
considering the systems and standards of
internal control within the Trust, including
control of securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness.  The Committee’s focus
has included:

• Independently and objectively monitoring,
reviewing and reporting to the Trust Board
on the processes of internal control across
the whole of the organisation’s activities
(both clinical and non-clinical);

• The operation of the Board's assurance
framework for the management of its
principal risks; and the structures, processes
and responsibilities for identifying and the
managing key risks facing the Trust;

• Reviewing and approving all risk and
control related disclosure statements, in
particular the Annual Governance
Statement (AGS) and the Head of Internal
Audit Opinion, prior to endorsement by
the Board;

• Considering the integrity, completeness and
clarity of annual accounts and the risks and
controls around its management; 

• Reviewing the work of other committees
whose work can provide relevant
assurance; and

• Requesting and reviewing reports and
positive assurances from Directors and
Managers on the overall arrangements for
internal controls.

Governance and Organisational Arrangements

Governance Statement 2015-16 

(B) The Governance Framework of the Organisation    
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The Governance Committee is responsible for
rigorously keeping under review all aspects of
the Trust's clinical and corporate governance.
This includes, in particular, ensuring that the
Trust meets all its duties and obligations under
the NHS Constitution; plus all other statutory,
regulatory and best practice requirements by
which it is bound as a public body, and for
whose good implementation it is accountable to
the people and community of Cornwall and Isles
of Scilly. It especially includes all aspects of the
risk management process regarding clinical,
quality and safety and obtaining assurance on
all aspects of the Trust's declarations and its
registration by the Care Quality Commission.

The Governance Committee’s focus has included:

• Supporting the Audit Committee’s role on
scrutinising the effectiveness of compliance
mechanisms within the Trust;

• Overseeing the delivery of an integrated
governance structure for the Trust;

• Assuring the Board on the implementation
and effectiveness of governance and quality
arrangements within the Trust;

• Confirming policies for ensuring that there is
compliance with relevant regulatory, legal
and code of conduct requirements  and other
relevant guidance; and

• Obtaining assurance on the Trust’s registration
with the Care Quality Commission.

The Risk Management Committee is a
sub-committee of the Governance Committee
and its purpose is to direct the Trust’s
management of all areas of risk and to ensure
that all elements of the Risk Management
Strategy are addressed within available
resources. This includes management of risk in
relation to the achievement of the Trust’s
corporate objectives and the Board Assurance
Framework. The Committee is chaired by the
lead director for clinical risk and its membership
also comprises senior executives and key senior
managers from across the Trust.

The Remuneration Committee determines
appropriate remuneration and terms and
conditions of service for the Chief Executive,
Executive Board Directors, very senior staff
managers, and staff on local terms and
conditions. The committee also, evaluates
individual performance of Executive Directors
and oversees appropriate contractual
arrangements for such staff. 

The People and Organisational Development
Committee introduced in January 2016
maintains a strategic overview of the Trust’s
workforce, educational and organisational
development arrangements, with a view to
giving the Board assurance on such matters.

The Finance, Performance and Investment
Committee conducts independent and objective
reviews of the Trust’s financial and operational
performance, it’s investment policy and
associated investment proposals, the Trust’s
business plan and performance business risks
impacting on the Trust’s business objectives.

The Board met a total of eight times in public in
2015-16: April 2015, June 2015, July 2015,
September 2015, November 2015, January 2016,
February 2016 and March 2016. 

Governance and Organisational Arrangements

Governance Statement 2015-16 

(B) The Governance Framework of the Organisation cont...
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Membership of the Board from the 1st April 2015 to approval of the Annual Report was as follows:

Governance and Organisational Arrangements

Governance Statement 2015-16 

(B) The Governance Framework of the Organisation cont...

Board Member Position Period

Executive Directors

Kathy Byrne Chief Executive from 25th Apr 2016 to date

Andrew MacCallum 
Interim Chief Executive
Deputy Chief executive
/ Nurse Executive

from 1st Nov 2015
to 24th April 2016
from May 2012 

Bill Shields Interim Chief Executive from 6th Jan 2015 to 31st Oct 2015

Karl Simkins Director of Finance & Performance from July 2010 to date

Ethna McCarthy
Director of Strategy &
Business Development

from January 2012 to date

Dr Rob Parry Medical Director from Feb 2014 to date

Paul Bostock Chief Operating Officer from Oct 2015 to date

Susan Young
Interim Director of Human Resources
& Organisational Development

from Nov 2015 to April 2016

Nick Macklin
Director of Human Resources
& Organisational Development

from Apr 2013 to 30th Sept 2015

Christine Perry Interim Nurse Director/Nurse Director from Nov 2015 to date

Non-Executive Directors

Dr Jon Andrewes Trust Chairman from Jul 2015 to July 2016

Angela Ballatti Trust Chairman from Jul 2013 to Jul 2015

John Bennett Non-Executive Director from Jan 2014 to Aug 2015

Roger Gazzard Non-Executive Director & Audit Chair from Oct 2007 to date

Adam Broome Non-Executive Director from Sept 2014 to May 2016

Charlotte Russell Non-Executive Director from Jan 2014 to date

Dr Mairi Mclean Non-Executive Director from Jan 2014 to date

Amarjit Basri Non-Executive Director from Feb 2016 to Mar 2016

Paul Hobson Non-Executive Director from Feb 2016 to date

Professor Steve Thornton Associate Non-Executive Director from May 2014 to Oct 2015

Elaine Hobson Associate Non-Executive Director from Oct 2015 to Mar 2016

Sarah Pryce Associate Non-Executive Director from Feb 2016 to date
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Directors are required to adhere to the highest
standard of conduct in the performance of their
duties. In respect of their interaction with
others, the Trust Board operates under an
explicit Code of Conduct, which is compliant
with the NHS Code of Governance. The Board of
Directors of the Trust are required to agree and
adhere to the commitments set out in the Code
of Conduct, which includes the principles set out
by the Nolan Committee on Standards in Public
Life. Once appointed, Board Members are
required to sign a declaration to confirm that
they will comply with the Code in all respects.
All meetings of the Board have been quorate. 

Board members attendance at Committees is
summarised at Appendix 2.

Board Effectiveness
The Board’s effectiveness is regularly assessed,
by means of a self-assessment exercise or
through independent external review. These
assessments lead to the development of action
plans where necessary. 

The Board also hears ‘patient stories’ at its Board
meetings and engages with service users and
staff through an ‘executive out and about
programme’, developed to strengthen board to
ward connection.

An external governance review was conducted
to support the on-going development of the
Board. Following feedback received by NED’s as
part of this review a refreshed induction
programme has been implemented for recent
Board appointments.

Associate NEDs have been appointed to
supplement skills and experience and to
support Board succession planning.

All Board members receive an annual
appraisal review. 

Board Assurance Framework and the Annual
Governance Statement
The Board Assurance Framework (BAF) is the key
document for the Board in monitoring the
effectiveness of the performance of the Trust in
respect of governance issues and meeting its

objectives. This has been developed through the
evaluation of the four strategic and principal
objectives for 2015-16. The Trust’s objectives
were refreshed as part of the development of
the Trust’s Business Plan which takes into
account the Trust’s risk management agenda and
brings together the strategic priorities and
objectives of the organisation to assure the
Board that any risks that may jeopardise the
achievement of the objectives are identified
and effectively managed. 

During 2015-16 the Board Assurance Framework
was reviewed and strengthened to help drive
the agenda for the Board and its key
committees.  This included the following:

• A review and refresh of the BAF template to
allow for greater clarity on the key controls
and assurance on which management of
principal risks is dependent, and how any
gaps are to be addressed;

• A review of how risks are articulated to
ensure that the actions being put in place
are addressing the cause and mitigating 
he impacts;  

• The introduction of a scoring system for
the assurances included, depicted as a
RAG rating;  

• A review of the current and target residual
risk scores to ensure the risk scores are a fair
reflection of the level of risk facing the
organisation, as well as providing more
ambitious targets for the degree of
mitigation achieved; and

• The inclusion of three new principal risks in
year to ensure the BAF reflects the key risks
facing the organisation.

The Board Assurance Framework is a key source
of assurance when preparing the Annual
Governance Statement, along with the Head of
Internal Audit Opinion. 

The Audit Committee plays a key role in
providing the Board with the assurance it
requires, with particular focus on the
effectiveness of the Trust’s internal control
system. The Audit Committee reports regularly
to the Board. 
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The Trust recognises that one of the key success
factors in achieving good governance is the
effective management of risk.

The Trust’s Risk Management Strategy and
Policy (the Risk Management Strategy) was
updated in May 2014. The Strategy is available
to all staff through the Trust’s website in the
documents library.   

All staff are provided with risk management
training as part of their induction process.
Additionally on-going mandatory training is
required for all staff.

The risk management strategy: 

• Defines the Trust’s attitude to risk; 

• States that all staff are responsible for
managing risks;

• Defines unacceptable and acceptable risk;

• Defines the reporting process;

• Recognises the legal basis of requirements for
risk assessment and risk management;

• Describes the design of the Trust’s risk scoring
approach and the mechanisms for ensuring
that the Trust Board maintains its focus on
mitigating the most critical risks;

• Describes the function of the assurance
framework and risk registers;

• Identifies the roles and responsibilities, for
risk management, of non-executive and
executive directors, management and
staff; and

• Describes the structure of assurance, delivered
through the working groups and committees
of the Trust Board.

All staff are informed of the need to report
incidents, via the Trust’s intranet incident
reporting facility, and to disseminate experience
and learn from incidents.  The Trust has a policy

for managing complaints, concerns, comments
and compliments.  The Trust also utilises
improved incident reporting arrangements,
including quarterly Complaints, Litigation,
Incidents and PALS reports, which provide an
analysis of incidents and identify action plans for
addressing weaknesses identified. The reports
are produced for each clinical division and for
the Trust as a whole. These reports then link
through and are integrated with the Trust’s
Board Assurance Framework.

Trust Board Assurance Framework – High Level
Risks and Gaps in Assurance and Control

The Trust has developed a detailed process for
monitoring the risks to achieving its objectives
and strategic aims, based on the Board
Assurance Framework. This framework:

• Identifies the principal risks to achievement of
the Trust’s strategic objectives;

• Identifies the components of the system of
internal control in place to manage the risks; 

• Identifies the assurance sources which the
Trust Board rely on relating to the
effectiveness of such systems; and 

• Records the actions taken to address
identified gaps in control and assurance
about the effectiveness of those controls.

It is the responsibility of the Company Secretary
to ensure that the Board Assurance Framework is
kept up to date and is used to influence the
agenda for the Trust Board. In the absence of the
Company Secretary, the Trusts Interim governance
lead has fulfilled this role and further developed
the Board Assurance Framework.

The Audit Committee is responsible for
reviewing the processes in place for the
development and monitoring of the Trust Board
Assurance Framework.

Governance and Organisational Arrangements

Governance Statement 2015-16 

(C) Risk Assessment



Royal Cornwall Hospitals NHS Trust • Annual Report 2015 - 2016
59

The Trust plans that systems of internal control
are in place and work effectively throughout
the whole year; however there are instances
where controls are not fully effective and these
may result in the Trust not being able to
obtain the required level of assurance. The Trust
sets out gaps in control and assurance in this
statement and confirms that action is
being, or has been taken, to improve the
control environment.

The key risks facing the Trust, as included in the
BAF are summarised in the table at Appendix 1.

Risks in Relation to Data Security

The Trust’s overall arrangements for managing
data security lie within the responsibilities of the
Deputy Chief Executive & Nurse Director, or
nominated Executive Director in their absence.
Where key data security risks arise, they are
recorded on the Trust’s risk register and
addressed as part of the overall risk assurance
management processes. The Trust’s annual self-
assessment declaration, in the information
governance toolkit, indicates that it maintains a
high level of security over information and
data security.

During the year four issues regarding data
breaches were reported to the Information
Commissioner. These were investigated with
appropriate management action taken.

Based on a self-assessment the Trust has assessed
itself as compliant with the Information
Governance (IG) Toolkit V13 for 2015-16.

(D) The Risk and Control Framework

This section covers the risk and control framework
and describes the system of internal control.

System of Internal Control

The system of internal control is designed to
manage risk to a reasonable level rather than to
eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies,
aims and objectives. It can therefore only
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance 

of effectiveness. The system of internal control is
based on an on-going process designed to:

• Identify and prioritise the risks to the
achievement of the Trust’s policies, aims and
objectives; and

• Evaluate the likelihood of those risks being
realised, the impact should they be realised,
and to manage them efficiently, effectively
and economically.

The system of internal control has been
maintained in the Trust during the year ended
31 March 2016 and is up to the date as of the
approval of the Annual Report and Accounts. 

Risk Management Control Framework

Risks are identified across all functions of the
Trust’s activity, including clinical, support services,
corporate and administrative functions. Risks are
not limited to insurance and health and safety
issues, but include risks to delivery of key targets
and operational objectives. The risk registers and
assurance framework take account of the Trust’s
relationship with other NHS organisations and
with patients and the public. The annual
planning cycle, at all levels of the Trust, includes
the requirement for specialty, divisional and
departmental plans to identify and assess the
risks and assurances associated with each of the
key objectives identified.  These risks and
assurances are required to be incorporated into
the relevant risk registers.

All risks that are identified are assessed, for
likelihood of occurrence and scale of impact
should the risk occur. The assessment process uses
a risk scoring system, which is defined in the Risk
Management Strategy. The Trust has also
designed a detailed five-point classification of
the likelihood and impact of a range of risk
types, to help guide managers in determining
the consequence and likelihood scores.   Each risk
that is recorded in the risk register is assigned to
a named individual.  Risks that are considered to
be significant, but which cannot be addressed at
the level where they are identified, are passed up
to the next level of management. The highest
level risks, with the most significant potential
impact on the Trust, are incorporated into the
Board Assurance Framework.  
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The risk registers, including the Corporate Risk
Registers and Board Assurance Framework
identify the actions planned to address the risks
identified and an assessment of the likely
residual risk.

Specialty and departmental risk registers are
monitored at Divisional governance meetings.
Locally, high level risks are discussed with
executive directors at monthly performance
meetings and the Risk committee as part of
regular assurance framework review.  

Head of Internal Audit Opinion – Risks and Gaps
in Control

Internal Audit is a key source of assurance on the
sound operation of the Trust’s internal controls. 

The independent Head of Internal Audit
Opinion for 2015-16 provided a ‘significant
assurance except for’ rating, as the systems of
control underpinning CIP delivery are new
arrangements that are not as yet embedded. It
highlighted audit work undertaken in relation
to medicines management and discharge
planning.  The recommendations from these
reviews will be considered and followed up in
the light of the CQC inspection report
dated May 2016.

In general there was a sound system of internal
control, aligned to meet the organisation’s
objectives, which were generally being
consistently applied.

Weaknesses in the design, and/or inconsistent
application of controls, however, were risking
the achievement of particular objectives. The
Trust has initiated action to address areas
of weakness. 

Risks Identified through Working with
External Stakeholders

Externally, the Trust works with a range of
stakeholders to identify and manage risks. In
relation to key contracts for clinical services,
the Trust performance was monitored by
NHS Kernow for Clinical Commissioning Group
services and NHS England for specialised services.

This includes quality and operational
performance including patient access times and
contract performance through regular contract
review meetings.

The detailed monitoring and analysis of the
contract is undertaken by the Contract
Management Group. These mechanisms are key
to ensure contract performance and related risks
are effectively managed.

The Trust in its accountability to NHSI is
part of wider system of external risk assessment
and management with regard to all aspects
of its operation. The Trust Executive attended
monthly meetings with senior officers of
NHSI and on a quarterly basis the Trust’s Chair
also attended.

More widely, the Trust engaged with other
stakeholders, both national and local, such as
the Strategic Clinical Network and health system
partner providers and is a member of the
Whole Systems Resilience Network (WSRN),
which includes representatives from the key
system partners of the public sector in the
County to work together to manage
operational risks and sustain safe clinical services.
This ensures the Trust keeps track of emerging
risks across the healthcare system and wider
public sector.

RCHT works closely with commissioners and
partners across health and social care through
the commissioner led Quality, Innovation,
Productivity and Prevention (QIPP) Programme
to identify how services will develop and identify
and manage risk from this process.

Any risks identified from working with external
stakeholders have been recorded on the Trust’s
Risk Management System and escalated as
appropriate for review by the Risk Committee.
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The Trust has robust arrangements in place to
ensure the discharge of its statutory functions
and that they are legally compliant. In particular:

Compliance with NHS Pension
Scheme Regulations

As an employer with staff entitled to
membership of the NHS Pension Scheme,
control measures are in place to ensure all
employer obligations contained within the
Scheme Regulations are complied with.  This
includes ensuring that deductions from salary,
employer’s contributions and payments in to
the Scheme are in accordance with the
Scheme Rules and that Trust member Pension
Scheme Records are accurately updated in
accordance with the timescales detailed in the
Regulations. The Trust is satisfied that pension
deduction and calculations are made in
accordance with regulations.

Compliance with Equality, Diversity and Human
Rights Legislation

The Trust has ensured its compliance with
Equality legislation through the utilisation of
the Equality Delivery System tool (EDS2). This
tool supported the Trust to prove that it is
meeting its Public Sector Equality Duty by
gathering evidence to meet the 18 outcomes
within it. EDS2 will be revisited in 2016 and the
outcomes with the lowest grades awarded will
be reassessed.

The Trust has recently published its Annual
Equality Report. This report contains
information on the characteristics of the Trust’s
workforce and the people who use the Trust’s
services in order to identify any possible
inherent disadvantage or issue with individuals
being excluded from opportunities or services.
Over the next 12 months there will be a focus
on improving data collection for both staff and
patients through literature and posters being
produced to raise awareness of the benefits of
sharing equality information. The workforce
will also be given access to Employee Self
Service for ESR and a campaign to raise
awareness of the importance of updating
personal information will be
arranged to coincide.

Compliance with Climate Change Adaptation
Reporting to Meet the Requirements under the
Climate Change Act 2008

The Trust has adopted a Sustainable
Management Development Plan and associated
action plan aimed at ensuring all activities
undertaken within the operation of the
organisation have considered the effect of
climate change.  All Business Cases are required
to evidence how sustainable development has
been considered as part of proposals for the
development of services, systems and estate.  
Specific activities include working with the
Transport and Travel Office to encourage active
travel, the Procurement Department have
embedded ‘sustainability’ into their activities
and the risk register has been updated to
consider the effects of climate change on the
Trust. Closer links have been forged with the
wider community through co-operation on the
Carbon Wise intranet page covering all Cornwall
NHS healthcare organisations and wider work
with the Council and private sector on the
future plans for the County.  

An NHS sustainability day took place on 24th
March 2016. The Trust is implementing a £6.4m
carbon and energy project which will result in
the installation of some of the latest energy
infrastructure, reducing its CO2 emissions by
32% and making considerable savings on its
energy bills.

Compliance with Care Quality Commission (CQC)

– Essential Standards of Quality and Safety
In January 2014 the Trust was rated as ‘requires
improvement’. In June 2015 a follow-up
inspection was carried out and found the trust
had not made sufficient progress in urgent and
emergency services, medical care and surgery. At
this time the trust was issued with a section 29A
warning notice in regard to concerns about
staffing in the emergency department and the
high care bay on Wellington ward. CQC
returned to the trust in October 2015 to review
progress against the warning notice and found
the trust had made improvements and met the
requirements of the notice.
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However, due to the lack of sufficient progress
in all areas since January 2014, CQC decided
that a second comprehensive inspection
was required.

A planned comprehensive inspection was carried
out in January 2016. The inspection focussed on
whether services are safe, effective, caring, and
responsive to peoples’ needs and whether the
organisation was well-led. The inspection
covered eight service areas across the three Trust
sites. The Trust took immediate actions on
feedback from the inspection with the actions
forming part of the overall Trust’s Quality and
Safety improvement plan.

The final outcome of the CQC inspection
was published on the 11th May 2016. Overall
the Trust was rated as ‘requires improvement’,
with Royal Cornwall Hospital rated as ‘requires
improvement’, West Cornwall Hospital as
‘good’ and St Michael’s Hospital as ‘good’.
CQC rated safe, effective, responsive and well
led as ‘requires’ improvement and caring as
‘good’ overall.

Aspects of Urgent and Emergency Care and End
of Life Care have been rated as ‘inadequate’,
and are being prioritised for improvement
at pace.

A comprehensive improvement plan has been
devised and implemented to respond to the
CQC report and progress is being monitored
by the Board.

On the 28th April 2016 CQC placed an
Improvement Notice on the Trust. This was
issued under the Health and Safety at Work Act
1974 and the Ionising Radiation (Medical
Exposure) Regulations 2000. The improvement
notice related to ensuring appropriate doses of
radiation are given during clinical imaging tests,
requiring compliance by July 2016.

Quality Accounts

The 2014-15 Quality Accounts were presented
to the Board in June 2015. Subsequently, an
unqualified audit opinion on the quality
accounts was received from the Trust’s
External Auditors.

Counter Fraud

As part of the Trust’s approach to preventing
and deterring fraud, the Trust uses the services
of a Local Counter Fraud Specialist (LCFS).

The LCFS produces a work plan each year which
is agreed by the Audit Committee and allows for
work on fraud detection, prevention and
deterrence to be undertaken. An annual report
on Counter Fraud activity is provided to the Trust
through the Audit Committee. Counter Fraud
training is mandatory for all Trust staff.

National Priorities from the NHS TDA
Accountability Framework

The Trust took account of the TDA Accountability
Framework in its internal management and
Board reporting arrangements.

Key metrics from the Accountability
Framework are reported to the Board monthly
through the Integrated Performance Report
(IPR) summary with more detailed information
going to the Finance, Performance and
Investment Committee and Governance
Committees as appropriate.

The Trust experienced a number of operational
challenges in 2015-16 in particular with the
delivery of the Emergency Department
operational standard. Action plans and a
recovery trajectory are in place for 2016-17. 

The incomplete Referral to Treatment (RTT)
standard has been delivered for each month to
date in 2015-16. The management of elective
waiting times is clearly set out within the Trust’s
Access Policy which describes how the national
guidance should be applied locally.

The policy has been agreed with the Clinical
Commissioning Group, and is within date (valid
until November 2016) and is published and
available on line.
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Effective scrutiny of elective waiting times is in
place via a weekly Executive Director-led
meeting, supported by weekly meetings within
the operational Divisions, in which performance
against the RTT standards are monitored. The
performance management framework also
reviews performance against other elective
waiting time standards, as well as other key
waiting time indicators, such as the 11 week
‘back-stop’ target for new outpatient
appointments. In addition, a rolling programme
ensures that several quality indicators are also
routinely scrutinised. Training is provided
routinely and as required and is bespoke to
support management of access standards.

A number of processes are in place to ensure
the quality of the waiting time data. These
include weekly validation of any unknown
clock starts, weekly review of incomplete
pathways over 13 weeks wait, without a
decision to admit, and the validation of the
pathway when patients with a decision to
admit are added to the elective waiting list.
Completed pathways in excess of 18 weeks are
also validated monthly. An audit programme is
in place, delivered by the Access Team, which
enables detailed, objective scrutiny of waiting
list management to provide assurance
regarding the application of the Access Policy.

There are two inherent risks to the quality and
accuracy of the elective waiting times, which
are common across many Trusts. The first is the
holding of waiting time information across a
variety of clinical administrative systems, which
could result in inaccurate waiting time data
if not linked together robustly. The second is
the risk of human error within such systems.
The outcome of each could be both
under-recording and over-recording of
pathway lengths. There are a number of
provisions in place which seek to mitigate these
risks in terms of the electronic processing of
waiting time data, supported by the production
of data quality reporting.

In addition, the validation and audit processes
described earlier also provide mitigation. Any
waiting list/time management errors are
reported following the Trust’s incident

management process. A process improvement
planned for 2016-17 will enable waiting time
data to be reported more regularly than the
current position of weekly and further process
improvements are expected with the
replacement of the Trust’s PAS in 2017-18.

The Data Quality Strategy has been reviewed,
updated and merged with the Records
Management Strategy to form a new
encompassing Strategy - “Records, Information
and Data Quality Strategy”. 

The Strategy lays down the Trust approach to
managing information and data quality
wherever data is collected; electronically or
manually, clinical or in business support.  The
Trust’s aim is to maximise the accuracy,
timeliness and quality of data collected.

High standards in data quality will aid the Trust
in meeting its patient safety and governance
obligations as well as maximising its planning
and finance capabilities.  The Data Quality
Policy is currently undergoing its first full
review in three years and will underpin the
Records, Information and Data Quality Strategy.

(E) Review of the Effectiveness of Risk
Management and Internal Control

As Accountable Officer, the Chief Executive has
responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of
the system of internal control and review is
informed in a number of ways.

The Head of Internal Audit provides 
an opinion on the overall arrangements for
gaining assurance through the Assurance
Framework and on the controls reviewed as
part of the internal audit work.

Executive managers within the organisation
who have responsibility for the development
and maintenance of the system of internal
control provide assurance.  The Integrated
Performance Report (IPR) to the Trust Board
that measures the Trust performance against
quality and safety, finance, local and national
targets and workforce provides assurance. 
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The Board Assurance Framework itself provides
evidence that the effectiveness of controls that
manage the risks to the organisation achieving
its principal objectives have been reviewed.
Review is also informed by:

• Consideration of conclusions formed by the
Care Quality Commission during the year on
the Trust’s status; 

• Consideration of the actions taken to
address the issues highlighted in the
previous Annual Governance Statement;

• The effectiveness of the system of internal
control is advised by the Board, Audit
Committee, Governance Committee,
Remuneration Committee processes. Plans to
address weaknesses and ensure continuous
improvement of the system are in place. 

In 2015-16 the Trust’s External Auditors did not
raise any significant issues in relation to
internal control arrangements.

(F) Significant Issues for 2015-16

NHS organisations need to exercise judgement
in deciding whether or not a particular issue
should be regarded as significant internal
control issue. 

Significant Control Issues Identified through
the Work of Internal Audit

The independent Head of Internal Audit
opinion for 2015-16 provided a ‘significant
assurance except for’ rating, as the systems of
control underpinning CIP delivery are new
arrangements that are not as yet embedded. It
highlighted audit work undertaken in relation
to medicines management and discharge
planning.  The recommendations from these
reviews should be considered and followed up
in the light of the recent CQC inspection report
dated May 2016.

Generally there was a sound system of internal
control, aligned to meet the organisation’s
objectives, which were generally being applied
consistently. Some weaknesses in the design,
and/or inconsistent application of controls,

however, were putting the achievement of
particular objectives at risk. The Trust has
initiated action to address areas of weakness. 

Significant Control Issues identified
through the work of External Auditors and
(non CQC) Regulators

In October 2015, there was an announced visit by
a Specialist Inspector (Occupational Health) and
local Field Inspector specifically auditing
compliance with the Health and Safety (Sharp
Instruments in Healthcare) Regulations 2013.  The
Field Inspector also utilised the visit to follow-up
on a number of cases of occupational dermatitis
reported in accordance with the requirements of
the Reporting of Injuries, Diseases and
Dangerous Occurrence Regulations 2013.  

At the end of the visit an Improvement Notice
was issued in relation to the use and
management of sharps (needles, etc.) within the
Trust.  In response to the visit a number of
actions were implemented including changing
the standard hypodermic needles and other
sharps in use, training for staff in using the new
products and a comprehensive audit program,
along with improvements to the incident
reporting and investigation process.  The Health
and Safety Executive (HSE) were generally
satisfied with the arrangements for identifying
and managing suspected cases of occupational
skin conditions and further proactive monitoring
processes are being implemented.

The Trust provided a written response to the
improvement notice in February 2016, and
supplied further clarifications in March 2016.
This detailed the actions taken in response to
the improvement notice.  No fines or
prosecution action have been indicated in
relation to the October visit, however the HSE
Fee for Intervention will apply.

No further significant control issues have been
brought to the attention of the Trust by its
external auditors or other regulators.
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Serious Incidents

There have been a number of incidents during
2015-16 which have been evaluated through the
Trust’s formal processes and which do not
present any areas for major concern.

The Trust has however had two Never Events
since 1st April 2015, and in response to these has
undertaken a programme of reviewing and
strengthening the safety of patients undergoing
invasive clinical procedures. 

Never Events are defined as “serious, largely
preventable patient safety incidents that should
not occur if the available preventative measures
have been implemented”.

The events were:

• Wrong site surgery for Dacryocystorhinostomy
in Ophthalmology; and

• Wrong site biopsy in Interventional Radiology.

Financial Issues

The Trust set a plan to report a £5.5m deficit
during 2015-16 which was revised down to a
£3.8m deficit to reflect the financial pressures
within the NHS. This target required the
delivery of £15m of savings.

By the year end the Trust reported a deficit of
£6.9m. This was due to a combination of a
failure to achieve the full savings target, higher
than expected variable pay costs and other
overspends due to the significant operational
pressures the Trust faced in 2015-16. The Trust’s
operational pressures increased costs in relation
to providing services during the winter period,
being unable to deliver the planned levels of
elective care, and suffering additional fines.
The deficit reported was after the receipt of
non-recurrent income of £5.7m.

In line with many other acute NHS and
Foundation Trusts the Trust’s financial position
continues to be extremely challenging. 

The financial plan for 2016-17 is that a £17.5m
Income & Expenditure deficit is planned which
is yet to be approved by NHSI. This is

dependent on achieving savings of £15m, which
is £8m more than achieved in 2015-16.

The Trust is aiming to recover its financial
position as quickly as possible, achieving
increasing savings and avoiding baseline
cost increases.

Emergency Department 4 hour Standard

The Trust did not meet the 95% 4 Hour
Emergency Standard during any single month,
achieving overall performance of 82.1%. The
highest proportion of patients treated and
leaving the department within 4 hours was
88.9% in July 2015, whilst the lowest was in
March 2016 (71.7%).

The primary cause of breaches of the standard
was exit block – delay in and reduced ability
to admit patients from ED to beds within the
Trust, resulting in crowding within ED (more
patients than spaces in which to be seen).

Breaches while ‘waiting for a bed’ increased
from 47.1% in 2014-15 to 52.6% in 2015-16.
This was mostly due to the pressures on
patient flow across the healthcare system
indicated within the Trust by high levels of
delayed transfers of care, and significant
numbers of patients in RCHT beds deemed
medically fit for discharge but without
provision in the system for alternative support
outside the acute hospital.

The second highest reason was waiting for
ED Doctor, which improved from 10.7% of
total reported breaches last year to 8.4%.

Despite significant challenges, there was
improvement across a number of the internal
professional standards as the organisation
implemented an ED Improvement Plan in order
to not only improve performance, but more
specifically safety and experience within
the department:

• Percentage of patients seen within an hour
rose from 60.2% of total attendances last
year to 62.5% this year;
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• Decision to admit within 3 hours reduced
slightly from 71.8% to 71.7%;

• The percentage of patients left unseen
decreased to 1.97%, the first time in the last
4 financial years that it has been under the
target of 2%; and

• The number of reported breaches has
dropped from an in-year high to 0.3% in
February, the lowest for many years.

As part of a whole system review the Trust
engaged with the Emergency Care
Improvement Programme and has
implemented a variety of work streams,
including Plan Do Study Act cycles and multi-
partner, multi-disciplinary long stay inpatient
reviews. This has also included developing
how the Trust works with health community
partners and commissioners.

Within ED there was significant investment
within the nursing body in particular, with
senior leadership posts added. These have
included a Clinical Matron, Nurse Consultant,
Advanced Nurse Practitioner and additional
Sisters/Charge Nurses. Through the ED
Improvement Plan a number of service
improvements have been implemented this
year including a Rapid Assessment and
Treatment Service, testing of various models of
GP involvement within ED, development of
standard operating procedures and escalation
plans for the ED ‘zones’ and specialty input into
ED and a pilot of acute medical assessment at
the front door. In addition the Trust has also
implemented the Ambulatory Emergency Care
Unit which delivers emergency same day care
for patients at the front door.

Despite these investments and improvements
ED performance remains variable and service
improvement will need to continue. The Trust
will further develop performance across the
internal professional standards, reviewing
staffing levels and appointing substantive staff
to critical vacant posts within the Emergency
Department to reduce the reliance on bank and
agency staff. This also applies to consultant
vacancies and includes developing a responsive,
proactive medical workforce strategy. This will
be led by the Clinical Director for ED. The Trust

remains committed to improving performance
and is confident that the range of actions with
system partners will greatly assist.

Mortality and Morbidity

In-hospital mortality remained a major
concern for the Trust. The Trust uses the HED
data to provide its mortality data set (this
provides identical hospital standardised
mortality rate (HSMR) information to that
previously provided by Dr Foster). A worsening
HSMR position was noted during 2015/16: the
HSMR for the period Jan 2015 to December
2015 revealed a HSMR of 114.82, with a higher
weekend than weekday mortality.

The mortality improvement plan for 2015-16
focused on 5 major areas:-

• review of all deaths;

• dissemination of learning;

• staffing and infra-structure;

• pathways and protocols, training,
culture; and 

• audit and review of data quality. 

In-depth reviews were carried out in the areas
of weekend deaths, acute kidney injury,
fractured neck of femur and heart failure.
Action plans were developed to address
deficiencies identified in these areas. 95% of
all deaths have been reviewed and key
learning disseminated.
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Improvements have included the introduction
of e-Observations, piloted on a renal and
endocrine ward (Grenville ward), appointment
of an additional endocrine and neurology
consultant and expansion of the critical care
out-reach service. In addition, a sepsis lead and
sepsis nurse were appointed and key
respiratory pathways were re-launched. A new
treatment escalation policy was introduced for
both adult and paediatric patients. Data quality
reviews have also taken place.  

In order to address the persistently high HSMR,
from April 2016, the Trust has focused on 6 key
areas of care:

• delivery-sepsis; 

• stroke;

• recognition and rescue of the
deteriorating patient;

• pathways/care bundles; 

• review of deaths; and 

• fractured neck of femur. 

These areas have regular review by groups
with specific terms of reference and key
performance indicators who report to a newly
established patient safety, experience and
effectiveness board. 

Hospital ‘Black’ Status

Black status is declared when there is an
extreme effect on services with a potential risk
to patient safety due to services being
overwhelmed by levels of demand. Prior to
black status being declared a number of actions
are taken across the health and social
community system with the aim of de-
escalating the situation and preventing this
status from being reached.

During the year, Royal Cornwall Hospitals NHS
Trust declared themselves to be in "Black”
status on the following dates:

• 8th April 2015 to 14 April 2015

• 15th December 2015 to 16th December 2015

• 5th January 2016 to 12th January 2016

• 22nd January 2016 to 28th January 2016

• 6th February 2016 to 18th February 2016

• 25th February 2016 to 27th February 2016 

• 3rd March 2016 to 25th March 2016

• 5th April 2016 to 7th April 2016

During the period from the 8th to the 12th
January 2016, the Trust declared a ‘Significant
Incident’ above and beyond this Black status
due to the prolonged period of Black status the
Trust found itself in. 

The Royal Cornwall Hospitals Capacity
Management Escalation Plan follows the NHS
England (South) escalation framework which
outlines the process for managing capacity
surge. In accordance with this process the
Cornwall health and social care system
established multi-agency tactical and strategic
command and control principles with the aim
of a co-ordinated effort to address these system
wide issues which included extraordinarily
measures to release capacity across the system. 

The Cornwall health and social care system
remains under significant operational pressures.

Staff Survey Results

In previous years, the Trust has had relatively
poor results from the NHS Staff Survey. The
2015 Staff Survey however, shows that the Trust
has made significant inroads into issues such as
staff engagement. Over 90 questions are
brought together as "Key Findings" and
compared to 2014 the Trust saw 12 positive
statistically significant changes, many of those
in areas which cover staff engagement, such as
good communications, staff motivation and the
ability to contribute to improvements at work.  

This aligns well with the results of the
Listening into Action Pulse survey, which also
shows improvements in areas such as clarity of
the Trust's objectives and the ability to
contribute.  There are no negative statistically
significant changes in the Trust's national staff
survey results, and 10 key findings remained
the same.

Governance and Organisational Arrangements

Governance Statement 2015-16 

(F) Significant Issues for 2015-16 cont...
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However, the Trust still compares poorly with
other acute Trusts elsewhere in the country.
The areas where the Trust compares least
favourably with others includes some of the
findings in relation to staff motivation at work,
and recognition and value of staff by managers
and the organisation.  

The other areas of concern are:

• Staff satisfaction with the quality of work
and patient care they are able to deliver,

• Staff confidence and security in reporting
unsafe clinical practice; and

• Fairness and effectiveness of procedures for
reporting errors, near misses and incidents.

Although there is still a long way to go, it
would appear that the Listening into Action
Programme is having a positive impact on
staff engagement. More work needs to be
done to facilitate raising concerns and
incident reporting.

Over the next 12 months, we will continue
to focus on the areas concern our staff and
enable and actively encourage a range of
approaches to do this at specialty, divisional
and organisational level.

Conclusion 

Subject to the matters outlined in this
statement, the Trust can demonstrate a
generally sound system of internal controls that
supports the achievement of its policies, aims
and objectives. 

Signed:

Date:

Kathy Byrne
Chief Executive
Royal Cornwall Hospitals NHS Trust

Governance and Organisational Arrangements

Governance Statement 2015-16 

(F) Significant Issues for 2015-16 cont...
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However, the Trust still compares poorly with
other acute Trusts elsewhere in the country,
although the percentage of findings in the
bottom 20% of acute trust is less than last year.
The area’s where the trust compares least
favourably with others includes some of the
findings in relation to staff engagement (staff
motivation at work, and recognition and value
of staff by managers and the organisation).  

The other areas of concern are:

• Staff satisfaction with the quality of work
and patient care they are able to deliver,

• Staff confidence and security in reporting
unsafe clinical practice; and

• Fairness and effectiveness of procedures for
reporting errors, near misses and incidents.

Although there is still a long way to go, it
would appear that the Listening into Action
Programme is having a positive impact on staff
engagement.  It is therefore recommended that
the LiA programme continues to focus on this
area.  However, more work needs to be done to
make improvements around raising concerns
and incident reporting.  It is therefore
recommended that these are the areas for
focus in the corporate improvement plan.

Over the next 12 months, we will continue
to focus on the areas that continue to concern
our staff and facilitate a range of approaches
to do this at specialty, divisional and
organisational level.

Conclusion 

Subject to the matters outlined in this
statement, my review confirms that the
Trust has a generally sound system of internal
controls that supports the achievement of its
policies, aims and objectives, and that
those control issues have been, or are
being, addressed. 

Signed:

Date:

Kathy Byrne
Chief Executive
Royal Cornwall Hospitals NHS Trust

Governance and Organisational Arrangements

Governance Statement 2015-16 

(F) Significant Issues for 2015-16 cont...
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Current BAF Risks Key gaps in Control and Assurance Plans for mitigation

QUALITY

Poor patient
flow 

•  Unplanned growth in non-elective
demand impacting on elective
work plan, delayed transfers of
care and ability to deliver 4 hour
standard, and lack of assurance
about sufficiency of system-wide
response

•  System wide capacity shortfall
arising from growth in emergency
admissions and manifested in a
rise in delayed transfers of care.

•  Assurance that internal discharge
processes have been sufficiently
strengthened.

High mortality
ratio

•  Mortality improvement plan not
yet delivering the required
improvements in the
mortality ratio. 

•  Deep dive undertaken by
Governance Committee January 2016
and actions agreed.

•  Refreshed plan and KPIs developed for
2016/17, with clear set of work
programmes and clinical leads.

Sufficient
clinical staffing 

•  Lack of Workforce Strategies for
Medics and AHPs.

•  Some gaps in
availability/awareness of staff
escalation protocols. 

•  Medical recruitment difficulties in
some specialities, impacting on
weekend working.

•  Lack of assurance in relation to
deployment of medical workforce
and associated triangulation of
quality data.

•  Gap in action plan to reduce
agency spend within the cap.

•  People and OD Committee to oversee
the development of staff escalation
protocols to cover agreed clinical
groups. 

•  An electronic rostering system, being
rolled out across Trust.  

•  Recruitment processes underway,
and/or business cases under
development, as reflected in divisional
business plans.

•  Governance Committee has sought
assurance on medical gaps/7 day
working.

Appendix 1

The key risks facing the organisation, as
included in the Board Assurance Framework
as at 31 March 2016 are summarised in the
table below. The table also sets out the key
gaps in control and assurance at year end

and how these are being addressed, and
highlight those principal risks that were
introduced in year demonstrating a dynamic
approach to risk management.

•  Being addressed by the System
Resilience Group. Joint audit proposed.

•  £1.8m investment agreed by Trust
Board to increase capacity (both on a
temporary and permanent basis).

•  Internal audit commissioned.
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Appendix 1

Current BAF Risks Key gaps in Control and Assurance Plans for mitigation

QUALITY

Compliance with
health and
safety legislation
and guidance 

•  Poor uptake of role specific training
for Trust staff.

•  Gaps in medical and midwifery staff
side representation at H&S Ctte.

•  Formal assurance that the Trust has
met the requirements of the
Improvement notice served by HSE
in November 2015  with regard to
safer sharps.

•  Training matrix reviewed.

•  Letter sent to HSE February 2016
setting out actions taken by Trust to
demonstrate compliance with safer
sharps regulations. 

Strengthening
compliance with
CQC
requirements 

•  CQC Improvement Plan updated in
the light of CQC inspection in
January 2016.

•  Refresh of internal CQC
compliance framework required.

•  Lack of recent robust assurance
with regard to CQC compliance
against regulations.

•  Action plans prepared in response to
three Requirement Notices.  Patient
Care Improvement Plans implemented
in response to CQC findings.

•  Refresh undertaken, taking into
account Internal Audit findings and
clarifying accountabilities and role of
specific committees with regard to
assurance and oversight for
compliance with each regulation. 

•  Linked to action above.

PEOPLE

Low levels of
reported staff
engagement 

•  Feedback suggests some staff
groups not reached by current
communications arrangements.

•  Lack of assurance on progress with
regard to OD and Health and
Wellbeing strategies.

•  Lack of assurance with regard to
impact of recent initiatives to
strengthen clinical engagement.

•  To develop differentiated and targeted
engagement in areas/with staff groups
using Listening into Action.

•  Provide a series of assurance reports to
the People and OD Committee, and
review what further actions are
required to strengthen engagement.

• Medical Engagement Scale undertaken
to gain greater understanding of
medical staff engagement, and inform
future work.

NEW in 2015/16:
Secure and/or
develop strong
and stable
leadership from
the Board to the
ward to drive
the
transformational
change

•  Need for clarity on agreed way
forward in response to
leadership diagnostic.

•  Leadership and Development
to be included as part of broader
OD strategy.  
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Current BAF Risks Key gaps in Control and Assurance Plans for mitigation

PARTNERSHIP

Securing whole
system
agreement on
the
configuration of
future health
and social care
services:

•  Following completion of the
transaction for adult community
health services, there is a need to
develop governance arrangements
for the next phase.

•  Lack of integrated care strategy for
Cornwall.

•  Lack of patient feedback
mechanisms in place to assess
patient experience across integrated
pathways.

•  To be addressed at the Consortium
Programme Board.

•  Integrated care strategy to be
developed as part of 5 year
Sustainability and Transformation Plan.

•  RCHT Patient Experience Manager to
liaise with counterparts in NHS
organisations and consider how this is
best progressed. 

Loss of certain
clinical services 

•  Proposed for removal from BAF in
2016/17 following reduction in risk
score and strengthening of
positive assurance

Loss of certain
specialist services 

•  Proposed for removal from BAF in
2016/17 following reduction in risk
score and strengthening of positive
assurance

RESOURCES

Not delivering
the financial
plan and in year
statutory
financial duties 

•  Service Improvement Team recruited
but not yet fully in place.

•  Terms of Reference not yet
developed for Operational
Workforce Group.

•  Assurance required regarding
sustainable financial plan for
2016/17

•  Efficacy of nurse agency controls to
be tested

•  Commencement of Service
Improvement roles by May 2016.

•  Terms of Reference to be agreed. •
Consideration being given to identify
additional savings plans to mitigate risk
of shortfall.

•  To be reviewed by the Operational
Workforce Group.

Maintaining and
developing
estate, medical
equipment and
other
infrastructure
within available
resources

•  Consider alternative strategic
investment and partnership
solutions to address funding
challenges.

•  Lack of assurance with regard to
sufficiency of annual capital funding
for 2016/17 and 2017/18 particularly
in light of lack of access to national
funding in 2016/17.

•  OJEC procurement underway to
appoint a strategic estates partner. 

•  Review of managed equipment options
for radiology equipment.

•  Prioritise use of available funding to
address highest risk areas for capital
development.  QIA process underway
with regard to unfunded high
priority/high risk capital schemes.

Appendix 1

Principal risks were updated and presented to
the Board in April 2016, particularly to better
reflect the challenging external environment
within which the Trust operates, and to reflect

the on-going challenges to maintaining
delivery of Referral To Treatment standards
and reducing long waits  .
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Appendix 1

Board Audit
Committee

Governance
Committee

Risk
Management
Committee

Remuneration
Committee

People and
Organisational

FPIC

Executive Directors

Andrew MacCallum 7 1 5 5 0 5

Bill Shields 4 1 3 4

Karl Simkins 8 3 5 0 11

Ethna McCarthy 7 1 2 0 11

Dr Rob Parry 7 6 1 0

Paul Bostock 4 2 1 1 5

Susan Young 4 2 2

Nick Macklin 4 2

Christine Perry 3 1 4 1 0

Non Executive Directors

Dr Jon Andrewes 6 3 0 1

Angela Ballatti 2 1

John Bennett 2 1 3

Roger Gazzard 6 4 4 11

Adam Broome 8 4 1 2 10

Charlotte Russell 6 6 4

Dr Mairi Mclean 7 4 7 4

Amarjit Basi 1

Paul Hobson 2 1 1

Professor
Steve Thornton

2 3 1

Elaine Hobson 4 3 2 2

Sarah Pryce 1
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Introduction

Section 234B and Schedule 7A of the
Companies Act, as interpreted for the public
sector, requires NHS bodies to prepare a
Remuneration Report containing information
about directors’ remuneration. In the NHS the
report will be in respect of the Senior
Managers of the NHS body. ‘Senior Managers’
are defined as: ‘those persons in senior
positions having authority or responsibility for
directing or controlling the major activities of
the NHS body. This means those who influence
the decisions of the entity as a whole, rather
than the decisions of individual directorates or
departments.’ For the purposes of this report,
this covers the Trust’s Non Executive and
Executive Directors.

The Secretary of State for Health determines
the Remuneration of the Chairman and
Non-Executive Directors nationally.

Remuneration for Executive Board members is
determined by the Remuneration Committee.
Certain detail included within the
Remuneration Report is auditable and has
been referred to in the Independent Auditors
Opinion on the Financial Statements. Where
information included within the Report has
been audited, this has been highlighted.

The Remuneration and Terms of
Service Committee

The terms of reference for the Remuneration
Committee were updated and approved by
the Board in June 2016 under the review of
governance arrangements. The membership of
the remuneration committee consists of the
Trust Board Chairman and all Non-Executive
Directors. In the absence of the Board
Chairman a nominated Non-Executive Director
will act as Chair.

Remuneration Policy – Executive Directors

Amendments to salary are determined
annually by the Remuneration Committee.
Salary is inclusive – other payments such as
bonus, overtime, long hours, on-call, standby
etc. do not feature in executive director 

remuneration. Executive director performance
is monitored through the formal appraisal 
process, based on organisational and
individual objectives.

Details of remuneration and pensions for
Non-Executive and Executive Directors are
detailed in this Report.

Fair Pay Disclosure

Reporting bodies are required to disclose the
relationship between the remuneration of the
highest-paid director in their organisation and
the median remuneration of their
organisation’s workforce.

The banded remuneration of the highest-paid
director at the Trust in the financial year 2015-
16 was £180,000-185,000 (2014-15: £180,000-
185,000). This was 7.08 times (2014-15: 6.49)
the median remuneration of the workforce,
which was £25,781 (2014-15: £28,125).

In 2015-16, 3 (2014-15: 3) employees received
remuneration in excess of the highest-paid
director. Remuneration ranged from £187,741
to £208,572 (2014-15: £187,741 to £208,572).

Total remuneration includes salary, non-
consolidated performance-related pay and
benefits-in-kind. It does not include pension
contributions and the cash equivalent transfer
value of pensions.

The increase in the pay multiple ratio arose
from the decrease in the median pay level
compared to the unchanged salary of the
highest-paid director.

Remuneration Report 
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Duration of contracts, notice periods and
termination payments

Executive Directors are employed on contracts
of service and are substantive employees of
the Trust. Executive Directors’ contracts can be
terminated by either party with up to 6
months’ notice.  Following the departure of
an Executive Director and in advance of a new
appointee commencing, the Trust may engage
a suitably qualified and experienced interim
director to ensure continuity of leadership.

There are no special contractual compensation
provisions for the early termination of
Executive Directors’ contracts. Early
termination by reason of redundancy or, ‘in
the interests of the efficiency of the service’ is
subject to the provisions of the Agenda for
Change NHS Terms and Conditions Handbook
(Section 16).

Employees above the minimum retirement age
who themselves request termination by reason
of early retirement, are subject to the normal
provisions of the NHS Pension Scheme. Details
of termination packages, for all staff, paid by
the Trust are detailed in Annex 2.

Non-Executive Directors

The dates of contracts and unexpired terms
of office for the Non-Executive Directors are
as follows:

Remuneration Report 

Name
Appointment
start date

Appointment
end date

Reappointment
start date

Reappointment
end date

Dr Jon Andrewes -
(Chairman to July 2016)

July 2015 July 2016

Amarjit Basri February 2016 March 2016

Adam Broome September 2014 May 2016

Roger Gazzard October 2010 October 2014 October 2014 October 2016

Mairi McLean
(Acting Chair from

August 2016)
January 2014 January 2018

Elaine Hobson October 2015 March 2016

Paul Hobson February 2016 January 2018

Sarah Pryce February 2016 February 2017

Charlotte Russell January 2014 January 2018

John Lander June 2016 December 2016

There is no period of notice required for Non-Executive Directors.
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The following tables detail the salaries and
allowances and pension benefits for those
individuals deemed to be the ‘Senior
Managers’ of the Trust. For these purposes, 

Senior Managers are regular attendees of the
Trust Board, who are directing and controlling
the organisation.

Remuneration Report 

2015 - 16 2014 - 15

Non-Executive Directors

Salary
Total

(Bands of
£5,000)

£000

Expense
payments
(taxable)
total to

nearest £100

£000

Total
(Bands of
£5,000)

£000

Salary
Total

(Bands of
£5,000)

£300

Expense
payments
(taxable)
total to

nearest £100

£30

Total
(Bands
of

£5,000)

£000

Dr Jon Andrewes
Chairman 

(From July 2015 to July 2016)
25 - 30 0 25 - 30

Angela Ballatti
Interim Chair
(To July 2015)

5 - 10 0 5 - 10 35 - 40 0 35 - 40

Amarjit Basri
Non-Executive Director 

(From February 2016 to March 2016)
0 - 5 0 0 - 5

John Bennett
Non-Executive Director 

(From January 2014 to August 2015)
0 - 5 0 0 - 5 5 - 10 0 5 - 10

Adam Broome
Non-Executive Director 

(From September 2014 to May 2016)
5 - 10 0 5 - 10 0 - 5 0 0 - 5

Rik Evans
Non-Executive Director 

(To 29th May 2014)
0 - 5 0 0 - 5

Roger Gazzard
Non-Executive Director 

5 - 10 0 5 - 10 5 - 10 0 5 - 10

Elaine Hobson
Associate Non-Executive Director 

(From October 2015 to March 2016)
0 - 5 0 0 - 5

Paul Hobson
Non-Executive Director 
(From February 2016)

0 - 5 0 0 - 5

Mairi McLean
Non-Executive Director  (To July 2016)

Acting Chair (From August 2016)
5 - 10 0 5 - 10 5 - 10 0 5 - 10

Sarah Pryce
Associate Non-Executive Director 

(From February 2016)
0 - 5 0 0 - 5

Charlotte Russell
Non-Executive Director 
(From October 2013)

5 - 10 0 5 - 10 5 - 10 0 5 - 10

Professor Steve Thornton
Associate Non-Executive Director 
(From May 2014 to October 2015)

0 - 5 0 0 - 5 5 - 10 0 5 - 10

John Lander
Associate Non-Executive Director 

(From June 2016)

Salary and Pension Entitlements of Senior Managers

The above table is subject to audit and has been referred to in the auditor’s opinion on the financial statements.
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The following tables detail the salaries and
allowances and pension benefits for those
individuals deemed to be the ‘Senior
Managers’ of the Trust. For these purposes, 

Senior Managers are regular attendees of the
Trust Board, who are directing and controlling
the organisation.

Remuneration Report 

2015 - 16

Senior Managers

Salary whilst
in post as

senior manager
(Bands of
£5,000)

£000

Other
salary

(Bands of
£5,000)

£000

Expense
payments
(taxable)
total to

nearest £100

£000

Exit
packages

£0

All pension
related
benefits
(Bands of
£2,500)

£000

Total
(Bands
of

£5,000)

£000

Andrew MacCallum
Nursing Executive & Deputy Chief Executive

(to Nov 2015)
Interim Chief Executive

- (Nov 2015 to Apr 2016)
Deputy Chief Executive

- (from Apr 2016 to Jul 2016)

150 - 155 0 0 0 5 - 7.5 155 - 160

Bill Shields
Interim Chief Executive (to Nov 2015)

140 - 145 0 0 0 0 140 - 145

Kathy Byrne
Chief Executive (from Apr 2016)

0 0 0 0 0 0

Nick Macklin
Director of Human Resources

(to Sept 2015)
55 - 60 0 0 0 0 55 - 60

Ethna McCarthy
Director of Strategy & Business Development

110 - 115 0 28 0 0 110 - 115

Rob Parry
Medical Director (to Sept 2016)

190 - 195 0 29 0 105 - 107.5 300 - 305

Karl Simkins
Director of Finance (from Jul 2010)

140 - 145 0 28 0 5 - 7.5 145 - 150

Paul Bostock
Chief Operating Officer

(from Sept 2015)
70 - 75 0 0 0 82.5 - 85 155 - 160

Susan Young
Interim Director of Human Resources

& Organisational Development
(From Nov 2015 to April 2016)

85 - 90 0 0 0 0 85 - 90

Christine Perry
Interim Nurse Director

(From Dec 2015)
45 - 50 0 0 0 0 45 - 50

Mid-point of total paid remuneration band
of the highest paid Director 

£182,500

Median total remuneration £25,781

Ratio 7.08

Salary and Pension Entitlements of Senior Managers cont...

The above table is subject to audit and has been referred to in the auditor’s opinion on the financial statements.
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The following tables detail the salaries and
allowances and pension benefits for those
individuals deemed to be the ‘Senior
Managers’ of the Trust. For these purposes, 

Senior Managers are regular attendees of the
Trust Board, who are directing and controlling
the organisation.

Remuneration Report 

2014 - 15

Senior Managers

Salary whilst
in post as

senior manager
(Bands of
£5,000)

£000

Other
salary

(Bands of
£5,000)

£000

Expense
payments
(taxable)
total to

nearest £100

£00

Exit
packages

£0

All pension
related
benefits
(Bands of
£2,500)

£000

Total
(Bands
of

£5,000)

£000

Bill Shields
Chief Executive (from 5th Jan 2015)

55 - 60 0 0 0 0 55 - 60

Lezli Boswell
Chief Executive (to 31st Oct 2014)

100 - 105 70 - 75 18 0 0 175 - 180

Joanne Gibbs
Chief Operating Officer (to 6th Feb 2015)

115 - 120 0 10 65,423 0 180 - 185

Andrew MacCallum
Nursing Executive & Deputy Chief Executive

Acting Chief Executive
- (1st Nov 2014 to 4th Jan 2015)

145 - 150 0 0 0 137.5 - 140 285 - 290

Nick Macklin
Director of Human Resources

110 - 115 0 0 0 22.5 - 25 130 - 135

Ethna McCarthy
Director of Strategy & Business Development

125 - 130 0 0 0 77.5 - 80 200 - 205

Rob Parry
Medical Director (to Sept 2016)

180 - 185 0 15 0 12.5 - 15 195 - 200

Karl Simkins
Director of Finance (from Jul 2010)

140 - 145 0 32 0 0 140 - 145

Adam Wheeldon
Acting Director of Finance

(to 30th Jun 2014)
35 - 40 60 - 65 0 0 10 - 12.5 110 - 115

Mid-point of total paid remuneration band
of the highest paid Director 

£182,500

Median total remuneration £28,125

Ratio 6.49

Salary and Pension Entitlements of Senior Managers cont...

The above table is subject to audit and has been referred to in the auditor’s opinion on the financial statements.

No bonus payments were made to senior managers in either 2015-16 or 2014-15. Clinical Excellence
Awards, are included within 'salary'.

‘All pension related benefits’ disclosed in the table above represent the increase in pension
benefits in the financial year. Pension benefits are calculated as 20 times the annual pension
entitlement at age 60 plus the value of any lump sum pension entitlement. These figures are
adjusted for inflation.
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The following tables detail the salaries and
allowances and pension benefits for those
individuals deemed to be the ‘Senior
Managers’ of the Trust. For these purposes, 

Senior Managers are regular attendees of the
Trust Board, who are directing and controlling
the organisation.

Remuneration Report 

2014 - 15

Senior Managers

Real
increase in
pension at
age 60

(Bands of
2,500)

£000

Real increase in
pension lump
sum at age 60
(Bands of 2,500)

£000

Total
accrued

pension at
age 60 at
31st March

2016
(Bands of
5,000)

£000

Lump sum at
age 60

related to
accured

pension at
31st March
2015 (Bands
of 5,000)

£000

Cash
equivalent
transfer
value at

31st March
2016 as
provided
by NHSPA

£000

Cash
equivalent
transfer
value at

31st March
2015 a
provided
by NHSPA

£000

Real
increase in

Cash
equivalent
transfer
value

£000

Andrew MacCallum
Interim Nursing Executive

0 - 25 2.5 - 5.0 50 - 55 155 - 160 1,051 1,009 30

Ethna McCarthy
Director of Strategy

& Business Development
(5.0) - (2.5) (10.0) - (12.5) 40 - 45 120 - 125 753 813 (69)

Karl Simkins
Director of Finance 

0 - 2.5 2.5 - 5.0 50 - 55 160 - 165 1,005 967 27

Nick Macklin
Director of

Human Resources
0 0 5 - 10 0 139 106 32

Rob Parry
Medical Director

5.0 - 7.5 15.0 - 17.5 50 - 55 150 - 155 914 798 106

Paul Bostock
Chief Operating Officer

0 - 2.5 0 - 2.5 30 - 35 80 - 85 464 402 31

Christine Perry
Interim Nurse Director

0 0 30 - 35 95 - 100 632 621 3

Pension benefits

The above table is subject to audit and has been referred to in the auditor’s opinion on the financial statements.

There were no employers' contributions to
stakeholder pensions. A Cash Equivalent
Transfer Value (CETV) is the actuarially
assessed capital value of the pension scheme
benefits accrued by a member at a particular
point in time. The benefits valued are the
member's accrued benefits and any contingent
spouse's pension payable from the scheme.

A CETV is a payment made by a pension
scheme, or arrangement to secure pension
benefits in another pension scheme or
arrangement when the member leaves a
scheme and chooses to transfer the benefits
accrued in their former scheme. The pension
figures shown relate to the benefits that the
individual has accrued as a consequence of

their total membership of the pension scheme,
not just their service in a senior capacity to
which the disclosure applies. 

The CETV figures and other pension details
include the value of any pension benefits in
another scheme or arrangement which the
individual has transferred to the NHS pension
scheme. They also include any additional
pension benefit accrued to the member as a
result of their purchasing additional years of
pension service in the scheme at their own cost. 

CETVs are calculated within the guidelines and
framework prescribed by the Institute and
Faculty of Actuaries. 
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Real increase in CETV 

This reflects the increase in CETV effectively
funded by the employer. It takes account of
the increase in accrued pension due to
inflation, contributions paid by the employee
(including the value of any benefits
transferred from another pension scheme
or arrangement). The rate of inflation
used is based on the factors effective at
15 March 2016 (1.2%).

As Non-Executive Directors do not
receive pensionable remuneration there
are no entries in respect of pensions for
Non-Executive members.

Reporting of other compensation schemes for
Senior Managers - exit packages 

No exit packages were agreed by the Trust in
2015-16 for Senior Managers. Exit packages 

agreed for other staff are disclosed within
the Staff Report and Note 10 to the
financial statements.

Staff Report 

Average Whole Time Equivalent (WTE)
Staff Numbers

Reporting organisations are required to
disclose details of their average whole time
equivalent (WTE) staff numbers during the
year. These details are also disclosed within
Note 9 of the Trust’s financial statements:

Remuneration Report 

Staff type Total staff Permanently
employed staff

Bank and
Agency staff

Medical and dental 694 640 54

Administration and estates staff 1,178 1,118 60

Healthcare assistants and other support 658 500 158

Nursing, midwifery and health visiting 1,343 1,216 127

Nursing, midwifery and health visiting learners 60 60 0

Scientific, therapeutic and technical 735 710 25

Healthcare science 141 141 0

Other 2 2 0

Total 4,811 4,387 424

The above table is subject to audit and has been referred to in the auditor’s opinion on the financial statements.
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Senior Staff Numbers (WTE)

Included within the permanent staff above,
were the following number of senior staff.
Note for the purposes of this disclosure, 

‘senior staff’ are those staff employed at the
Agenda for Change (AfC) Band 8 – Range A
and above.

Remuneration Report 

The above table is subject to audit and has been referred to in the auditor’s opinion on the financial statements.

Pay band Number (WTE)

Band 8 - Range A 84

Band 8 - Range B 48

Band 8 - Range C 23

Band 8 - Range D 12

Band 9 7

Total 174

Staff Composition – Permanent Staff

The following table details the average WTE staff numbers of permanent staff by gender:

The above table is subject to audit and has been referred to in the auditor’s opinion on the financial statements.

Staff type Male Female Total

Board members 5 1 6

Senior staff
(Agenda for Change pay scales Band 8 and above)

66 108 174

Other staff 963 3,244 4,207

Total 1,034 3,353 4,387



82
Royal Cornwall Hospitals NHS Trust • Annual Report 2015 - 2016

Staff Policies – Equality and Inclusion

The Trust is committed to delivering inclusive
health services for all in a dignified and
respectful way by a workforce which is equally
respected. It recognises that all patients, staff
and members of the public are individuals and
the Trust will strive to meet their needs.

As an organisation, it endeavours to ensure
that no one is discriminated against or
treated unfairly due to age, disability, race,
religion or belief, gender, sexual orientation,
gender reassignment, marriage/civil
partnership or pregnancy/maternity. Where
necessary it will make every effort to ensure
adjustments are made to prevent less
equitable experiences occurring.

The Trust applied to the Employers Network
for Equality & Inclusion to examine its
progress on being inclusive and supportive
employers. It was awarded silver and will be
working toward gold in the coming years.

The Trust has also introduced two staff
networks to ensure the voices of minority
groups are heard. These groups are for staff
with impairments or health conditions and
staff from minority ethnic backgrounds. It is
hoped that further networks will be
established in the future.

More detailed information on equality and
inclusion, including data on ethnic
background, disability and age profile can be
found in the Trust’s Annual Equality Report
2015, which is available on its website at
www.rcht.nhs.uk 

The Trust’s Equality, Diversity and Human
Rights policy can be found at: 

http://www.rcht.nhs.uk/DocumentsLibrary/Roya
lCornwallHospitalsTrust/HumanResources/Equal
ityDiversityAndHumanRightsPolicy.pdf

Remuneration Report 

The above table is subject to audit and has been referred to in the auditor’s opinion on the financial statements.

Sickness absence Number

Total days lost 44,759

Total staff years 4,368

Average working days lost 10

Ill-health retirements

Number of persons retired early on ill-health grounds 10

Total additional pensions liabilities accrued in the year £439,000

Sickness absence data

The table below details the Trust’s sickness
absence data and is also reported in Note 9 of
the Trust’s financial statements. The data is 

based on the 2015 calendar year, which the
Department of Health regards as a reasonable
proxy for the 2015-16 financial year.
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Remuneration Report 

Consultancy expenditure

The table below details the Consultancy expenditure incurred by the Trust in 2015-16:

The above table is subject to audit and has been referred to in the auditor’s opinion on the financial statements.

Area Expenditure £000

Financial recovery 255

Emergency department performance 71

External governance review 23

Workforce cost improvement programme 54

Job planning review (for Consultant programmed activities - ‘PAs’) 31

Patient flow and bed occupation review 127

Interim operations lead 140

Total 701

Off-payroll Engagements 

As part of the Review of Tax Arrangements of
Public Sector Appointees, published by the
Chief Secretary to the Treasury on 23 May
2012, NHS bodies are required to publish
information in their Annual Report regarding
off-payroll engagements, whereby individuals
are paid through their own companies (and so 

are responsible for their own tax and NI
arrangements, not being classed 
as Trust employees).

Off-payroll engagements as of 31 March 2016,
for more than £220 per day and that last
longer than 6 months:

Number

Number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2016 2

Of which, the number that have existed:

for less than one year at the time of reporting 2

All existing off-payroll engagements have at
some point been subject to a risk based
assessment as to whether assurance is required

that the individual is paying the right amount
of tax and, where necessary, that assurance
has been sought.
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Area Number

Number of new engagements, or those that reached six months in
duration, between 1 April 2015 and 31 March 2016

5

Number of new engagements which include contractual clauses giving the
Trust the right to request assurance in relation to income tax and national
insurance obligations

0

Number for whom assurance has been requested 5

Of which:

Assurance has been received 5

Remuneration Report 

New off-payroll engagements between 1 April 2015 and 31 March 2016, for more than £220 per
day and that last longer than 6 months: 

Number

Number of off-payroll engagements of Board members, and/or senior
officers with significant financial responsibility, during the financial year*

1

Number of individuals that have been deemed “Board members, and/or
senior officers with significant financial responsibility” during the financial
year. This figure includes both off-payroll and on-payroll engagements

21

Off-payroll engagements of Board members, and/or, senior officials with significant financial
responsibility, between 1 April 2015 and 31 March 2016:

* Following the departure of one of its Executive Directors, the Trust engaged the services of an
interim Director on an off-payroll engagement basis, for 5 months in 2015/16.
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Note: redundancy costs have been incurred
following organisational restructuring. Exit
costs in this table are accounted for in full in
the year of departure. Where the Trust has
agreed early retirements, the additional costs
are met by the Trust and not by the NHS
Pension Scheme. Ill-health retirement costs are
met by the NHS Pension Scheme and are not
included in the table. 

This disclosure reports the number and value
of exit packages agreed in the year.  The
expense associated with these departures may
have been recognised in part or in full in a
subsequent period. 

None of the payments above include a special
payment element.

Type Agreements Total number of
agreements

Contractual payments in lieu of notice 6 45

Total 6 45

This disclosure reports the number and value
of exit packages agreed in the year. The
expense associated with these departures may
have been recognised in part or in full in a
subsequent period.

As a single exit packages can be made up of
several components each of which will be
counted separately in this disclosure, the total
number above will not necessarily match the
total numbers in the table above, which
details the number of individuals

Band
Number of
compulsory
redundancies

Cost of
compulsory
redundancies

Number
of other

departures
agreed

Cost of
other

departures
agreed

Total
number
of exit

packages

Total cost
of exit

packages

Less than £10,000 1 4,697 4 9,750 5 14,447

£10,000 - £25,000 0 0 2 34,854 2 34,854

Total 1 4,697 6 44,604 7 49,301

Remuneration Report 

Exit packages

The tables below detail the exit packages agreed in the year by the Trust

The above table is subject to audit and has been referred to in the auditor’s opinion on the financial statements.

The above table is subject to audit and has been referred to in the auditor’s opinion on the financial statements.
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We have audited the financial statements of
Royal Cornwall Hospitals NHS Trust (the
"Trust") for the year ended 31 March 2016
under the Local Audit and Accountability Act
2014 (the "Act").

The financial statements comprise the
Statement of Comprehensive Income, the
Statement of Financial Position, the Statement
of Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity, the Statement
of Cash Flows and the related notes.

The financial reporting framework that has
been applied in their preparation is applicable
law and International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European
Union, and as interpreted and adapted by the
2015/16 Government Financial Reporting
Manual (the 2015/16 FReM) as contained in the
Department of Health Group Manual for
Accounts 2015/16 (the 2015/16 MfA) and the
Accounts Direction issued by the Secretary of
State with the approval of HM Treasury as
relevant to the National Health Service in
England (the Accounts Direction).

We have also audited the information in the
Remuneration and Staff Report that is subject
to audit, being:

• the table of salaries and allowances of senior
managers and related narrative notes within
the governance and arrangements section;

• the table of pension benefits of senior
managers and related narrative notes within
the governance and arrangements section;

• the table of exit packages and related
narrative notes within the governance and
arrangements section; and

• the table of pay multiples and related
narrative notes within the governance and
arrangements section.

This report is made solely to the Directors of
Royal Cornwall Hospitals NHS Trust, as a body,
in accordance with Part 5 of the Act and as set
out in paragraph 43 of the Statement of

Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited
Bodies published by Public Sector Audit
Appointments Limited. Our audit work has
been undertaken so that we might state to
the Directors of the Trust those matters we are
required to state to them in an auditor's
report and for no other purpose. To the fullest
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or
assume responsibility to anyone other than
the Trust and the  Directors of the Trust, as a
body, for our audit work, for this report, or
for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of Directors, the
Accountable Officer and auditor

As explained more fully in the Statement of
Directors’ Responsibilities, the Directors are
responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements and for being satisfied that they
give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is
to audit and express an opinion on the
financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and International Standards on
Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards
require us to comply with the Auditing
Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.

As explained in the statement of the Chief
Executive's responsibilities, as the Accountable
Officer of the Trust, the Accountable Officer is
responsible for the arrangements to secure
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use
of the Trust's resources. We are required under
Section 21(3)(c) and Schedule 13 paragraph
10(a) of the Act to be satisfied that the Trust
has made proper arrangements for securing
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use
of resources and to report our opinion as
required by Section 21(4)(b) of the Act. 

We are not required to consider, nor have we
considered, whether all aspects of the Trust’s
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency
and effectiveness in its use of resources are
operating effectively.

Auditor’s Report

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Directors of Royal Cornwall Hospitals NHS Trust
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Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the
amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements sufficient to give reasonable
assurance that the financial statements are free
from material misstatement, whether caused by
fraud or error.

This includes an assessment of whether the
accounting policies are appropriate to the
Trust’s circumstances and have been
consistently applied and adequately disclosed;
the reasonableness of significant accounting
estimates made by the Directors; and the
overall presentation of the financial
statements. In addition, we read all the
financial and non-financial information in the
Annual Report to identify material
inconsistencies with the audited financial
statements and to identify any information
that is apparently materially incorrect based on,
or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge
acquired by us in the course of performing the
audit. If we become aware of any apparent
material misstatements or inconsistencies we
consider the implications for our report.

Scope of the review of arrangements for
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness
in the use of resources

We have undertaken our review in accordance
with the Code of Audit Practice, having regard
to the guidance on the specified criteria issued
by the Comptroller and Auditor General in
November 2015, as to whether the Trust had
proper arrangements to ensure it took properly
informed decisions and deployed resources to
achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for
taxpayers and local people.

The Comptroller and Auditor General
determined these criteria as those necessary for
us to consider under the Code of Audit Practice
in satisfying ourselves whether the Trust put in
place proper arrangements for securing
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use
of resources for the year ended 31 March 2016,
and to report by exception where we are
not satisfied.

We planned our work in accordance with the
Code of Audit Practice. Based on our risk
assessment, we undertook such work as we
considered necessary to form a view on
whether, in all significant respects, the Trust
had put in place proper arrangements to secure
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use
of resources.

Opinion on financial statements

In our opinion the financial statements:

• give a true and fair view of the financial
position of Royal Cornwall Hospitals NHS
Trust as at 31 March 2016 and of its
expenditure and income for the year then
ended; and

• have been prepared properly in accordance
with IFRSs as adopted by the European
Union, as interpreted and adapted by the
2015/16 FReM as contained in the 2015/16
MfA and the Accounts Direction.

Opinion on other matters

In our opinion:

• the parts of the Remuneration and Staff
Report to be audited have been properly
prepared in accordance with IFRSs as
adopted by the European Union, as
interpreted and adapted by the 2015/16
FReM as contained in the 2015/16 MfA and
the Accounts Direction; and

• the other information published together
with the audited financial statements in the
annual report is consistent with the audited
financial statements.

Auditor’s Report

Independent auditor’s report to the Directors of Royal Cornwall Hospitals NHS Trust
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Matters on which we are required to report
by exception

We are required to report to you if we refer a
matter to the Secretary of State under section
30 of the Act because we have reason to
believe that the Trust, or an officer of the Trust,
is about to make, or has made, a decision
which involves or would involve unlawful
expenditure, or is about to take, or has begun
to take a course of action which, if followed to
its conclusion would be unlawful and likely to
cause a loss or deficiency.

On 23 May 2016 we referred a matter to the
Secretary of State under section 30 of the Act
in relation to Royal Cornwall Hospitals NHS
Trust's breach of the break-even duty for the
five year period ending 31 March 2016. 

We report to you if we are not satisfied that
the Trust has put in place proper arrangements
to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness
in its use of resources.

Basis for qualified value for money conclusion

The Trust's outturn position for 2015/16 was a
£6.9 million deficit, after a transfer from capital
to revenue of £5.7 million which was not
included in the original budget. This was a
larger deficit than the Trust's budgeted deficit
of £3.8 million. In addition, the Trust's financial
plans show a substantial deterioration, with a
forecast deficit of £17.5 million in 2016/17. This
increases the cumulative deficit to £40 million
by the end of 2016/17.

The deterioration in the Trust's financial
position was due to a number of factors,
including failure to deliver planned savings,
higher than planned usage of agency staff, and
a different mix of non-elective and elective
patient activity to that planned; resulting in a
reduction to expected levels of income and
increased costs. 

These issues are evidence of weaknesses in
proper arrangements for planning finances to
support the sustainable delivery of strategic
priorities and maintain statutory functions.

Qualified value for money conclusion

On the basis of our work, having regard to the
guidance issued by the Comptroller and
Auditor General in November 2015, except for
the effects of the matter reported in the basis
for qualified value for money conclusion
paragraph, we are satisfied that, in all
significant respects, Royal Cornwall Hospitals
NHS Trust put in place proper arrangements for
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness
in its use of resources for the year ended 31
March 2016.

We have nothing to report in respect of the
following matters where we are required to
report by exception if:

• in our opinion the governance statement
does not comply with guidance issued by the
NHS Trust Development Authority; or

• we issue a report in the public interest under
section 24 of the Act; or

• we make a written recommendation to the
Trust under section 24 of the Act; or

Certificate

We certify that we have completed the audit of
the accounts of Royal Cornwall Hospitals NHS
Trust in accordance with the requirements of
the Act and the Code of Audit Practice.

Geraldine Daly, Associate Director
for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP,
Appointed Auditor

Hartwell House, 55-61 Victoria Street, Bristol,
BS1 6FT
31st May 2016

Auditor’s Report

Independent auditor’s report to the Directors of Royal Cornwall Hospitals NHS Trust
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Introduction

This section sets out the key financial
information in relation to financial
performance in 2015-16 and the preparation
of the Trust’s financial statements.

Statement of Comprehensive Income

The Trust’s outturn was a deficit of £6.9m for
2015-16.  The original planned deficit for the
year was £5.5m; this was reduced to £3.8m in
August 2015 to reflect unprecedented
financial challenges in the NHS and targeted
improvements across all organisations.
However, with the financial impact of
operational pressures the Trust had been
forecasting a higher deficit throughout the
year, with the forecast deficit reported at M11
being £7.6m.

Other financial duties

During 2015-16 the Trust operated within its
External Financing and Capital Resource Limits
as set by the Department of Health (DH).  

The Trust ended the year with a cash balance
of £1.2m; this was £0.2m above the forecast
position of £1m.  The Trust had an agreed
Cash Management Plan with the TDA which
meant that the Trust received cash support of
£9.3m in year which enabled it to manage its
cash position despite the reported deficit. 

Going concern basis

The Trust has carried out a detailed assessment
to satisfy itself that it continues to operate as
a going concern. 

During the year the Trust secured a Revolving
Working Capital Loan Facility of £8.9m.  At
31 March 2016 the Trust had drawn down
£5.1m of this facility.  The term of the loan is
for 5 years and the loan is repayable in full
in April 2020.  

A revenue support loan of £3.8m was issued to
the Trust in February 2016.  The term of the
loan is 2 years and the loan is repayable in full
in February 2018.  

A capital investment loan of £6.1m, repayable
within 9 years, was issued by the Secretary of
State for Health in February 2016.  The Trust
has not made any drawings against this loan
in 2015-16, but is planning to draw it down in
full in 2016-17.

During the year the Trust made repayments of
£842k against its Capital Investment loans and
£1,933k against its revenue support loans.

The Statement of Financial Position
(Balance Sheet)

The Statement of Financial Position (Balance
Sheet) as at 31 March 2016 shows net assets
of £98m. 

Benefits from capital investment
during 2015/16

Despite the financial challenges facing the
Trust it has delivered considerable
improvements in its infrastructure through its
Capital Programme in 2015-16, spending
£13.7m as planned.  

Cumulative breakeven duty

The Trust reported a £6.9m deficit in 2014/15
and 2015/16 and now holds a cumulative
deficit of £22.5m at 31 March 2016. The Trust
has set a revised deficit plan of £3.7m in
2016-17 which will further worsen the
cumulative breakeven position to £26.2m
by 31 March 2017.

Annual Accounts

Foreword to the Accounts

Key Financial Performance in 2015-16
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Annual accounts

All NHS bodies have a statutory duty to
produce annual financial accounts; these form
part of the annual report, which describes the
key activities and performance for the year. 

The annual accounts represent the main way
in which NHS trusts deliver their obligation to
report to taxpayers and service users the
results of their stewardship of public money
for the year.  The board of each trust is
required to approve the annual accounts
formally, once they have been audited.

The format of each NHS trust’s accounts is
specified by the DH.  The content of the
accounts is as follows:

Statement of Comprehensive Income
Statement of Financial Position
Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity
Statement of Cash Flows
Accounting Policies
Notes to the Accounts

Performance against the Better Payments
Practice Code

The Better Payment Practice Code requires the
Trust to aim to pay all undisputed invoices by
the due date or within 30 days of receipt of
goods or a valid invoice, whichever is later. 

The Trust has an on-going target to pay 95%
of all invoices within a month of being
received.  At the end of the year, 89% of
invoices were cumulatively paid on time.  As
the Trust’s cash balances have deteriorated, it
has become more difficult to pay suppliers on
time and so the payment performance
has declined.  

Note 10 to the Trust’s accounts provides details
on payment performance. 

External audit arrangements

The Trust’s external auditor, Grant Thornton LLP,
was appointed by the Audit Commission on 1st
September 2012 for a period of five years.  

The external auditors are required to perform
their audit in line with the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014 and in accordance with
the Code of Practice issued by the National
Audit Office on behalf of the Comptroller and
Auditor General in April 2015. 

The Auditors have a responsibility to give an
opinion on the financial statements and satisfy
themselves that the Trust has made proper
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency
and effectiveness in its use of resources.  

The audit report gives the auditors’ opinion
stating whether the accounts give a ‘true and
fair’ view of the Trust’s financial position for
the year and have been properly prepared.
This opinion includes an assessment of
whether the annual report is consistent with
their knowledge of the Trust.  

The audit opinion, for 2015-16 was that the
accounts do give a ‘true and fair’ view and
have been properly prepared.  Accordingly, an
unqualified audit opinion has been given by
Grant Thornton UK LLP.  

The external auditors have confirmed that
they are satisfied that the Trust has put in
place adequate arrangements for securing
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the
use of resources (“value for money”), however
due to the deficit delivered in year by the
Trust the auditors will be issuing an except for,
qualifying opinion in relation to the “‘value
for money” opinion.  

In 2015-16, the Trust’s external audit fees
totalled £76,000 compared to £116,000 in
2014-15. The Trust will need to re-appoint its
external auditors for 2017/18 by 31 December
2016.  The Trust, in line with the Local Audit
and Accountability Act 2014, has appointed an
Auditor Panel to advise the Trust Board on the
appointment of its External Auditors

Annual Accounts

Foreword to the Accounts

Key Financial Performance in 2015-16 cont...
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Looking forward to 2016-17: Position of the
business in the future, including capital
structure, treasury policy and liquidity

The national and local NHS financial position
for 2016-17 remains challenging.  

The Trust has submitted a financial plan
with a deficit of £17.5m.  This requires a
savings plan of £15m which is 4.1% of income.
The Trust currently feels this is a realistic and
achievable target.  

The Trust has received assurance from the NHS
Improvement that they will make sufficient
cash financing available to the Trust, either
through an Interim Revolving Working Capital
Support Facility or an Interim Revenue

Support Loan, over the next 12 month period
such that the organisation is able to fund all
essential liabilities.  

Despite the forecast deficit for 2016-17 the
Trust’s financial plan submitted to NHS
Improvement enables it to meet all of its
current loan commitments.  

The Trust aims to invest £21.4m on capital
expenditure in 2016-17, funded from £13m of
internally generated funds via depreciation,
£1.6m of externally generated funds, £6.1m of
capital loan funding and £1.5m of Public
Dividend Capital funding, offset by £0.8m of
capital loan repayments.  

Annual Accounts

Foreword to the Accounts

Key Financial Performance in 2015-16 cont...
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